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CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate companies to which a higher investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.
The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited to professional and other
sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for
the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability
whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of its report.

This report, for which the directors of China E-Learning Group Limited collectively and individually accept full responsibility,
includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to China
E-Learning Group Limited. The directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge
and belief: (1) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading;
(2) there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement in this report misleading, and (3) all opinions
expressed in this report have been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases and assumptions
that are fair and reasonable.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to report the results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2010 to the shareholders.

REVIEW

The year 2010 is full of reforms for the Group. The Group has completed, as decided earlier, the re-structuring of its
organisation and business so as to better cope with its future development and meet the operational needs. Despite the fact
that the global economic conditions have been recovering slowly, the economy in Mainland China is going strong. It has
undoubtedly affected the Group’s strategies in formulating investment plans due to higher operational risk. The Group remains
cautiously optimistic, however, and focused on rationalising its resources. Hence, the Group is able to achieve targeted
growth, increasing opportunities in market penetration, as well as preparing itself for arriving at market expectations.

BUSINESS SCOPE

Ever since the acquisition of New Beida Business StudyNet Group in 2008, and the subsequent acquisition of [IN Medical
(BVI) Group in 2009, the Group has been continuously looking for promising businesses, for the nurturing of an e-learning
development platform. However, having restrained by the varying degrees of success on its scientific research and
technological development, the Group’s investment direction has inevitably been affected by market trends. Thus, the
Group has gradually reduced its investment on individual projects which failed to produce the expected returns; and further,
reorganising relevant subsidiaries, in order to better use the Group resources.

STRENGTHENED CONTROL

During the year, the Company has conducted a review of internal control procedures, for avoiding conflicts of interest,
and for enhancing internal communication. The Company also took on board more professionals, for improving the overall
management quality, for optimising corporate governance, and for assuring the investors on its prospects.

OPERATIONAL RESULTS

Turnover for the year has remarkably increased by 65.9% to approximately HK$38,575,000. Of which the [IN Medical Group
has contributed approximately HK$35,660,000 and loss of approximately HK$12,650,000 to our results. | expect that the [IN
Medical Group will continue to contribute stable income as well as cash flows to the Group.

E-LEARNING BUSINESS PROSPECT

Currently, the development of e-learning in China is more matured. The market awareness on, and the demand for e-learning
has reached higher level. It is not only the basic education and the qualification education that are required to cover. The latest
development has extended further into occupational training in business, which opens up more opportunities for future. On the
other hand, the media platform is also changing rapidly from desktop to Tablet PC and smartphone, enriching the number of
learning tools with the new generation.

OUTLOOK

In the coming years, the Group will continue exploring existing and new business opportunities. The Group is considering a
plan in developing the Group’s medical education platform both vertically and horizontally, expanding our network further to
potentially serving the medical and hospital services industry. As part of an on-going effort to improve the Group’s cash flow
position, the Group has been finalising negotiations with some existing creditors, with an intention to extend some of our loans
arrangement.

APPRECIATIONS

Finally, | would like to take this opportunity to express my sincere gratitude to the members of the Board of Directors,
management team and our employees for their dedication and contribution to the Group. | would also like to express my
appreciation to our shareholders and business partners for their enduring support and confidence in the Group.

Chen Hong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 March 2011
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$38,575,000 (2009:
HK$23,253,000) representing an increase of approximately 66% compared to the previous year. The increase in turnover was
mainly due to the contributed turnover of IIN Medical Group. Gross profit margin increased to approximately 49% for the year
ended 31 December 2010 from approximately 21% for the year ended 31 December 2009. The increase in gross profit margin
was primarily due to the substantial increase in IIN Medical Group’s turnover.

Other income for the year under review increased from approximately HK$3,192,000 in 2009 to approximately HK$20,634,000.
It was mainly attributable to the Company’s gain on redemption of convertible notes during the year of approximately
HK$19,537,000.

Administrative expenses of the Group increased from approximately HK$43,290,000 in 2009 to approximately HK$45,517,000
in 2010. Of these expenses, staff related costs have been decreased by approximately 81% from approximately
HK$27,848,000 in 2009 to approximately HK$5,384,000 due to no payment in share-based payment expenses (2009:
approximately HK$18,851,000). Impairment loss on other receivables has been increased from approximately HK$1,176,000
in 2009 to approximately HK$19,818,000 in 2010. Depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been increased by
approximately 33% to HK$2,147,000 in 2010 from approximately HK$1,618,000 in 2009.

Finance costs decreased from approximately HK$78,059,000 in 2009 to approximately HK$14,730,000 in 2010. Finance costs
primarily consist of accretion of interest on the liability portion of convertible loan notes of approximately HK$14,911,000 (2009:
HK$35,220,000) and fair value changes on the derivative portion of convertible loan notes of HK$181,000 gain (2009: loss of
HK$42,839,000).

As a result, the consolidated loss for the year decreased from approximately HK$475,378,000 in 2009 to approximately
HK$52,079,000 in 2010.

Capital structure, liquidity and financial resources

The Group financed its business operations mainly with cash revenue generated from operating activities and additional funds
raised by issuance of new shares. As at 31 December 2010, the Group had current assets of approximately HK$97,367,000
(2009: HK$52,698,000), including bank balances and cash of approximately HK$33,717,000 (2009: HK$37,218,000). Total
non-current assets of the Group amounted to approximately HK$14,033,000 (2009: HK$41,858,000), which comprised
goodwill, other intangible assets, financial derivatives in relation to the convertible notes, property, plant and equipment,
prepaid land lease payments and available-for-sales financial assets. Total assets of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$111,400,000 as at 31 December 2010 (2009: HK$94,556,000).

As at 31 December 2010, the Group did not have any outstanding bank borrowing. Total current liabilities of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$113,847,000 (2009: HK$25,413,000), which mainly comprised the amounts due to directors,
convertible notes and the related financial derivatives, tax payable and trade and other payables. Total non-current liabilities
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$49,435,000 (2009: HK$305,449,000), which comprised the convertible notes,
financial derivatives in relation to the convertible notes and other loan. Total liabilities of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$163,282,000 (2009: HK$330,862,000). As at 31 December 2010, the Group had net liabilities of HK$51,882,000 (2009:
net liabilities of HK$236,306,000). Gearing ratio of the Group, as expressed as the ratio of total liabilities to total assets, was
approximately 1.5 as at 31 December 2010 (2009: 3.50).

Share Capital

As at 1 January 2010, the authorised share capital of the Company was HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 shares
of HK$0.50 each and the issued share capital of the Company was approximately HK$236,282,000 divided into 472,563,895
shares of HK$0.50 each.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 11 May 2010, the authorised share capital of the Company was increased to
HK$5,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares by the creation of additional 8,000,000,000 shares.

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2010
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Open offer shares with bonus issues
On 31 May 2010, the open offer of 222,661,915 offer shares at HK$0.50 on the basis of 7 offer shares for every 20 existing
shares, with bonus issue on the basis of 2 bonus shares for each offer share taken up became unconditional. The net proceeds

from the open offer will be used for repayment of debts including convertible notes and for general working capital of the
Group.

During the year, shares were issued upon conversion of convertible notes as follows:

Principal amount

of the convertible Conversion Number of
Date of conversion notes price  shares issued
HK$ HK$

18 January 2010 3,750,000 1.57 2,388,535
9 March 2010 150,000,000 0.98 153,061,224
26 April 2010 8,000,000 0.98 8,163,265
16 July 2010 4,262,060 1.01 4,219,850
1 November 2010 2,233,419 1.01 2,211,292
6 December 2010 178,400 1.01 176,633
168,423,879 170,220,799

As at 31 December 2010, the authorised share capital of the Company was HK$5,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000
shares of HK$0.50 each and the issued share capital of the Company was approximately HK$655,385,000 divided into
1,310,770,439 shares of HK$0.50 each.

Convertible Notes

Pursuant to the acquisition of 100% interest in New Beida Group during the year ended 31 December 2008, the Company
issued convertible notes (“Convertible Notes 2008") as partial settlement of the acquisition consideration on 27 February 2008.
The aggregate principal of the Convertible Notes 2008 amounted to HK$720,000,000. The Convertible Notes 2008 are interest
free, repayable in 36 months from the date of issue and convertible into ordinary shares at conversion price of HK$0.63 per
share, subject to adjustments.

On 10 June 2010, Convertible Notes 2008 in the principal amount of HK$50,000,000 were redeemed.

As at 31 December 2010, the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes 2008 was HK$76,200,000
(2009: HK$284,200,000). The exercise in full of conversion rights vested with the Company’s outstanding Convertible Notes
2008 would result in the issue and allotment of 120,952,380 new shares in the Company.

Pursuant to the acquisition of 100% interest in [IN Medical (BVI) Group, the Company issued convertible notes (“Convertible
Notes 2009”) as partial settlement of the acquisition consideration on 23 April 2009. The aggregate principal of the
Convertible Notes 2009 amounted to HK$32,770,000. The Convertible Notes 2009 are interest free, with a principal amount
of approximately HK$20,150,000 maturing in 48 months from the date of issue and the remaining principal amount of
approximately HK$12,620,000 maturing in 24 months from the date of issue and convertible into ordinary shares at conversion
price of HK$1.01 (2009: HK$1.57) per share, subject to adjustments.

On 15 July 2010, an aggregate principal of the Convertible Notes 2009 amounted to HK$6,780,000 were issued as the final
payment for the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of IIN Medical (BVI) Group. The Convertible Notes 2009 are
interest free, with a principal amount of approximately HK$4,154,106 maturing in 48 months from the date of issue and the
remaining principal amount of approximately HK$2,625,894 maturing in 24 months from the date of issue and convertible into
ordinary shares at conversion price of HK$1.01 per share, subject to adjustments.

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2010
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the year, Convertible Notes 2009 in the principal amount of approximately HK$3,500,000 were redeemed.

As at 31 December 2010, the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes 2009 was HK$25,620,217
(2009: HK$32,770,000). The exercise in full of conversion rights vested with the Company’s outstanding Convertible Notes
2009 would result in the issue and allotment of 25,366,551 new shares in the Company.

Foreign exchange exposure

Most of the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. As the exchange
rate between Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi is relatively stable and the expenditure in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”") was covered by the sales in PRC, the management considers that the Group has no significant foreign exchange
exposures. Foreign exchange risk arising from the normal course of operations is considered to be minimal. The Group has no
foreign currency borrowings and has not used any financial instrument for hedging the foreign exchange risk.

Significant investments
During the year ended 31 December 2010, no significant investments were made by the Group. (2009: nil)
Contingent liabilities and charges on the Group’s assets

There were no significant contingent liabilities or charges on the Group’s assets as at 31 December 2010. (2009: nil)
OPERATIONAL REVIEW

The Joint Construction of Network Education College of Beijing University of Chinese Medicine Agreement (3£ 2 1t 7 & &
EmAEBREHNE SR S) (“Joint Construction Agreement”) entered into between Beijing University of Chinese Medicine
(db 7 A B8 2 K 22) and Hunan 1IN Medical Network Technology Development Co., Ltd. (“Hunan 1IN Medical”), a subsidiary
of 1IN Medical (BVI), on 29 July 2009 was successfully renewed on 1 July 2010. In accordance with the Joint Construction
Agreement, Hunan [IN Medical’s entitlement to share 60% of the profits of Distance Education College of Beijing University
of Chinese Medicine (dt & & & %% K £ % 12 8l 5 2 ) (“Distance Education College”) is reduced to 51% profit-sharing
percentage while all other terms and conditions thereunder are no less favourable than those under the Joint Construction
Agreement.

Employee information

As at 31 December 2010, the Group had a total of 64 employees (2009: 56 employees) (including executive directors). For
the year under review, the total staff costs amounted to approximately HK$5,384,000 (2009: HK$27,848,000), representing a
decrease of approximately 80.7% over the previous year. The decrease in staff costs was mainly attributable to the decrease
in share-based payment expenses from approximately HK$18,851,000 in 2009 to HK$nil in 2010.

The salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees are kept at a market level and employees are rewarded on a performance-
related basis within the general framework of the Group’s salary and bonus system, which is reviewed annually. Staff benefits
include contributions to mandatory provident fund and share options. Share options were not granted to employees of the
Group in the current year, whereby comparative details are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

PROSPECTS

The reorganisation of New Beida’s operations has succeeded in reducing Group’s losses and remained operative at
reasonable level. As we expect [IN Medical Group will continue to contribute stable income as well as cash flows to the Group,
we will keep focusing on developing new education program in Chinese medicine.

To improve the financial position of the Group, we are considering various alternatives to enlarge the Group’s capital base,
which include the proposal to issue new shares so as to provide additional funding to the Group. Meanwhile, the Group will
continue to look for opportunities for our existing business, particularly in developing both vertically and horizontally within the
Group’s medical education platform, expanding further into our service network, that may increase the shareholders’ value of
the Group and further reduce the business risk of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Hong (“Mr. Chen”), aged 42, was appointed as an Executive Director and Chairman of the Company on 1 April 2008;
and the authorised representative and compliance officer of the Company on 22 September 2008, Mr. Chen holds a Master
of Business Administration from Peking University, China. Mr. Chen has previously worked in several technology companies
and investment companies in China as senior management, and had extensive experience in corporate management and
investment. Mr. Chen is mainly responsible for the strategy formulation of the Company.

Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Chen did not hold any directorships in any listed public company in the last three years.

Ms. Wei Jianya (“Ms. Wei”), aged 42, was appointed as an Executive Director on 22 September 2008. Ms. Wei holds a
Bachelor’'s degree in commerce and financial accounting from Zhejiang Gongshang University (formerly known as Hangzhou
University of Commerce). Ms. Wei is a Certified Public Accountant registered in the PRC and Chinese Certified Public Tax
Consultant. She previously worked in PRC accounting firms and PRC listed companies and has extensive experience in
financial management and investment advisory.

Save as disclosed herein, Ms. Wei did not hold any directorship in any listed public company in the last three years.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the interests or short positions of the above executive Directors in the Shares or underlying
shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) are disclosed under
the paragraph headed “Directors and chief executive of the Company” of the section headed “Disclosure of interests” in this
Appendix.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheung Wai Tak (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 58, was appointed as an independent non-executive director and the chairman
of the audit committee on 11 June 2010. Mr. Cheung has more than twenty years of working experience in the investment
banking and accounting field. Mr. Cheung is a Certified Public Accountant in the United States of America and a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Cheung graduated with an MBA degree from the University of
California at Berkeley, the United States of America in 1981. Mr. Cheung was an executive director of China Grand Forestry
Green Resources Group Limited (910) during the period from October 2007 to September 2009, and was an independent non-
executive director of Hybrid Kinetic Group Limited (1188) during the period from April 2007 to November 2007.

Mr. Cheung is an independent non-executive director of Superb Summit International Timber Company Limited (1228). As
at the date of this announcement, Mr. Cheung did not have, and was not deemed to have any interest in the shares of the
Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.

Dr. Huang Chung Hsing (“Dr. Huang”), aged 57, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director and a member of
audit committee of the Company on 14 August 2008. Dr. Huang holds a Ph.D. degree in Management Science and Information
Systems from the University of Texas at Austin, U.S.A. and a Bachelor’s degree of Science in Electrical Engineering from
National Taiwan University. Dr. Huang is the Associate Dean of College of Management, National Taiwan University. He is also
the chairman of the Committee of Service Management of Chinese Management Association in Taiwan and the associate
researcher of Health Management Center of National Taiwan University Hospital in Taiwan. He has previously held senior
positions in various universities and banks such as Beijing University in China and Bank of SinoPac. Dr. Huang has extensive
experience in service operation management, business decision making and management of innovation.

Dr. Huang does not hold any other position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries nor did he hold any directorship in any
public listed company in the last three years. As at the Latest Practicable Date, Dr. Huang did not have, and was not deemed
to have any interest in any Shares or underlying shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Mr. Wu Tao (“Mr. Wu”), aged 38, was appointed as an independent non-executive director and a member of the audit
committee of the Company on 24 June 2010. Mr. Wu is a practicing lawyer in China. Mr. Wu is a law graduate from Tsinghua
University in 2006 with a master degree in law. Mr. Wu is currently a partner of Beijing East Rain Law Office. Previously, Mr. Wu
worked with Bureau of Justice of Beijing, Steering Group’s Office of Ruling the City according to Law of Beijing (1t =54
T <B B /N #EA ) and Beijing Zhong Lun Law Firm. Mr. Wu was also the secretary-general of the profession committee for
surety matters under Beijing Bar Association.

Save as disclosed above, Mr. Wu does not hold any other position in the Company or any of its subsidiaries nor did he hold any
directorship in any public listed company in the last three years. As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Wu did not have, and
was not deemed to have any interest in any Shares or underlying shares of the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO.

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2010




=EEREHREERAGRE

BITES

REREETREE]D 42 R_TTN\FOA-BREZERVTEERARALERF  RR_FTN\FLA-_FT-HE
ZERRRRARERARIERER  -RELBEPEULERASZTIHERBELEU -RELERPEZHAMBE QA RKE
REEEER HAEZFLELEREEMREALR RAELTEBSHITARA ZHRRKE

BABMAREEIN REEAXBE=ZFTEXNEFALTRRAEEEFAEERY -

ERSZE([ELxL]) 25 R-ZZNFAAT - ABZEANTES - EXITHAEMITIHRZ(REMME
ER)AEMBEEF2LEM B NPEEMEFTM LT EEMHEH - REEBNTFENSFTEHHALREAR L
MAE  TRUBEERREEBS T AHFEELR -

BABMAREEIN  EXIRBE=ZFTEXNEFALTRRAEEEAEERY -

RERATES  ERARTESNRODAARFABAERN (EERESLPEGERN(TE 5 RBAE GG EXVE) Mm%k
KB WERAWBEEERE] M ARREERRSTRARI—& -

BYFHITES

REBEE(TREE]D 8 N_T—ZTFAT - BEZEALARABUFATEERERZBEGIR - REER
BRERTREFTEFAFBE _TF2THFELR RAELRXBZHXEHM YRBLSHMATZEER - REERN
—AN—FEXRBAREMNARERTHERBE LM - REEBEEKLETPEMAGZEEREEER A (9108
TR FETAERCEENAFNAAHNBEZIATES AR/ LEEEERAR8)E —_EELFHUAE_TTLF+—
AHEZBIFRTES -

RELERTEBRBRAEAERAR(1228)ZBIIFATES RARXMAY  RELEXRFARNRA RO BEBERN (EE
RESFRHPEEMIEXVED)  MERE /A EA#ER -

EREFHL(ERLD 7 R-ZZENFNAATHREZERBUINTEZTRARAERZLZEGNE - BHLH
BEXERITEMNAEHERCEEEBR T BN MBIV AEARBETFIENEELEN - ER T REYAEREERE
AR RERAEZTERBERNBEENREERZECERNAEZEVAEXEBEERMRBRERE R
FLEIAEE RERKLEZHABMBTERESHBAL - fINPRILRRBERKERT EFLRRELEETE BE
REMBIBEEHRBLEELER -

HERETYERARAREEAMERAREEEAMEMEBL  RBE=FNEXREM LT AREEEMEETRE - KRR
ATRM ERETYARBEARRBBRNBMEBERN (EEREFLMEGIIEXVE) - TERKAFETMEE -

BERELE(TREE]D B N T TFAA-_THRAERZEAARABYUIFATEERERZBREXE - REER
TEHNERN  ZREXRAMBE  —TTAFRBFEASEFBIBM -REERRERTEZRMELZAERA -
FEREILRTEDER AR TERZETRENERAZERIERATHREMEFMER - RALENBRTILERTREAHE
BEREARFHEXZEGUWER -

BEXPEEEN  RALYERARARRETMMEARBEEAEMRL  REE=FNENEM LT RAREEE
MEERE REEAUTEY  KRELARBEARTBROIAAEBN (EELEBSFLBMEEROIEXVE) » RERE RF
BRI -

TERRHBEEEARAR




REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China E-Learning Group Limited (the “Company”) presents herewith
the annual report together with the audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are
set out in note 21 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Group’s results for the year ended 31 December 2010 and the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at that
date are set out in the financial statements on pages 30 to 112.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any final dividend in respect of the reporting year (2009: HK$nil).
SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the audited consolidated results of the Group for each of the five years ended 31 December
prepared on the basis set out in the note below:

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Turnover 38,575 23,253 26,692 2,756 6,714
Loss before tax 52,079 475,636 364,403 2,373 515
Net loss after tax 52,079 475,378 365,862 2,373 515
Total assets 111,400 94,556 457,127 22,626 974
Total liabilities 163,282 330,862 394,324 1,077 2,234

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements of property, plant and equipment are set out in note 19 to the financial statements.
SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company'’s subsidiaries are set out in note 21 to the financial statements.
SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share capital and share options during the year are set out in notes 29 and 36 to the financial
statements respectively.

CONVERTIBLE NOTES
Details of movements in the Company’s convertible notes during the year are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 34 and note 30 to the financial statements respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2010, the Company did not have any reserve available for cash distribution (2009: HK$nil). In accordance
with the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s Articles of Association, the Company’s share premium account
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debt as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions of pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31 December 2010.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Sales
—the largest customer n/a
—five largest customers n/a
Purchases
—the largest supplier 38.3%
— five largest suppliers 71.4%

Students are our major customers. It is therefore not applicable to provide the largest and the five largest customers’
percentages on our revenue income.

None of the Directors, their associates or shareholders (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company'’s share capital) had an interest in the major customers or suppliers noted above.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the financial year and at the date of this report were:
Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Hong

Ms. Wang Hui (resigned on 10 June 2010)

Ms. Wei Jianya

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Wai Tak (appointed on 11 June 2010)
Dr. Huang Chung Hsing

Mr. Wu Tao (appointed on 24 June 2010)
Dr. Wong Yun Kuen (resigned on 24 June 2010)
Ms. Chan Hoi Ling (resigned on 11 June 2010)

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors the annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers that all Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent
to the Group in accordance with the terms of the guidelines as set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2010
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

In accordance with Article 87 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Dr. Huang Chung Hsing will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Chen Hong and Ms. Wei Jianya have entered into service contracts with the Company for a term of three years. These
service contracts may be terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ notice to the other party.

All the Independent Non-Executive Directors have entered into service contracts with the Company for a term of three years.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid employees in the Group are set out in note 12 to the
financial statements respectively.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees, including its Directors, based on their performance, experience and prevailing market
rate. Other employee benefits include insurance and medical cover as well as share option scheme. Details of share option
scheme are set out in note 36 to the financial statements.

The determination of remuneration of the Directors of the Company had taken into consideration of their expertise and job
specifications.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2010, the interests and short positions of the Directors or chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)), which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO; or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
referred therein; or (c) pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange,
were as follows:

Long position in shares or underlying shares of the Company

Number of shares or underlying shares held Percentage of

Ordinary Share issued share

Name of Directors Capacity shares options Total capital

Chen Hong (Director) Beneficial owner 79,510,480 6,377,306 85,887,786 6.55%
Wang Hui

(Chief Executive) Beneficial owner - 6,377,306 6,377,306 0.49%

Wei Jianya (Director) Beneficial owner - 2,349,534 2,349,534 0.18%
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, none of the other Directors or chief executive of the Company had any
interest or short position in shares, debentures or underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations which
was required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO; or
(b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred therein; or (c) pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM
Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

INTERESTS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2010, so far as known to any Director or chief executive of the Company, the following persons (other than
the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long position in shares or underlying shares of the Company

Number of
shares or  Percentage of
underlying issued share
Name of shareholders Capacity shares held capital
Yang Dong Jun Beneficial owner 147,554,896 11.25%
Atlantis Investment Management Ltd Investment manager 80,058,000 6.11%
Liu Yang (Note) Interest of a controlled corporation 80,058,000 6.11%

Notes:

Atlantis Investment Management Limited is beneficially owned as to 40% by Ms. Liu Yang. Accordingly, Ms. Liu Yang is deemed to be interested in the
80,058,000 shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, the Directors were not aware of any other persons (other than the Directors
and chief executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year under review, neither the Directors nor the substantial shareholders of the Company and their respective
associates had any interest in business that competes, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

AUDITORS

During the year ended 31 December 2010, Messrs. Lo and Kwong C.P.A. Company Limited resigned as auditors of the
Company and Messrs. Parker Randall CF (HK) CPA Limited was appointed by the Directors to fill the casual vacancy.

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Parker Randall CF (H.K.) CPA
Limited as auditors of the Company.

On Behalf of the Board

Chen Hong
Executive Director

Hong Kong
29 March 2011
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company is committed to maintaining high standard of corporate governance and has applied the principles set out in
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules by making
its best effort (i) to respect the rights of the shareholders and fully recognise the legitimate interests of the shareholders; (ii)
to disclose information to shareholders in a timely manner and to increase the transparency of the Company; (iii) to enhance
the risk management and internal control policies of the Company; and (iv) to maintain responsible decision making so as to
safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the Company as a whole.

Save as the deviations as disclosed in this report, the Company has complied with all the code provisions on corporate
governance practices as set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of
all Directors, the Company was not aware of any non-compliance with the required standard as set out in the code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions throughout the year ended 31 December 2010.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD MEETING

The Board of Directors, which currently comprises two Executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen Hong and Ms. Wei Jianya
and three Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Wai Tak, Dr. Huang Chung Hsing, and Mr. Wu Tao,
is responsible for the overall management of the Group. It focuses on directing the corporate strategies and supervising
the business and significant affairs of the Group while the duties of the daily operation management are delegated to the
management of the Company.

Mr. Chen Hong and Ms. Wang Hui are the chairman and chief executive officer of the Company respectively and their roles are
clearly segregated.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, the Company had not complied with Code Provision A.4.1 of Appendix 15 of
the GEM Listing Rules that requires non-executive directors be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election.
In December 2010, service contracts had been entered into between the Independent Non-Executive Directors and the
Company. As such, the Company has complied with all the provisions set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board held 32 meetings during the year ended 31 December 2010 and the attendance of each Director at the board
meetings are set out as follows:

Executive Directors: Attendance
Mr. Chen Hong 20/20
Ms. Wei Jianya 19/20
Ms. Wang Hui (Note 1) 9/9

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Wai Tak 8/11
Dr. Huang Chung Hsing 4/20
Mr. Wu Tao 6/9
Ms. Chan Hoi Ling (Note 2) 3/11
Dr. Wong Yun Kuen (Note 3) 3/9
Notes:

(1) Resigned on 10 June 2010.

(2) Resigned on 11 June 2010.

(3) Resigned on 24 June 2010.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company’s audit committee was established on 26 November 2001 for the purpose of reviewing and supervising the
Company’s financial reporting and internal control procedures. The committee comprises three independent non-executive
directors, namely Mr. Cheung Wai Tak (the chairman of the committee), Dr. Huang Chung Hsing and Mr. Wu Tao.

In 2010, the audit committee held 4 meetings and details of the attendance of each member of the committee are set out as
follows:

Committee Members Attendance
Mr. Cheung Wan Tak 2/2
Dr. Huang Chung Hsing 4/4
Mr. Wu Tao 2/2
Ms. Chan Hoi Ling (Note 4) 2/2
Dr. Wong Yun Yuen (Note 5) 2/2
Notes:

(4) Resigned on 11 June 2010.

(5) Resigned on 24 June 2010.

During the year, the audit committee, together with the external auditors, have reviewed the accounting policies and methods
adopted by the Group and discussed with the management of the Company, inter alia, the matters relating to internal control
and financial statements of the Company. Relevant recommendations have been made to the management.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee was established on 23 March 2005 with major functions of (i) making recommendations to the
Board on the Company'’s policies and structure for the remuneration of Directors and senior management of the Group; and
(ii) determining the remuneration packages of all Directors and senior management of the Group; and (iii) reviewing and
approving the performance-based remuneration.

The remuneration committee of the Company is chaired by Mr. Chen Hong. Other members include Mr. Cheung Wai Tak and
Mr. Wu Tao. The majority of the members of the remuneration committee are independent non-executive directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, a meeting of the remuneration committee was held. All members of the
remuneration committee, at the time being, attended the meeting. The Company’s policy for the remuneration of Directors was
discussed in the meeting and no changes on the policy were recommended by the remuneration committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has not set up a nomination committee, and Directors are nominated by existing member(s) of the Board. Board
members, except the one who nominates the candidate, shall assess the candidate’s suitability of becoming a board member
with reference to the nominated candidate’s qualification, working experience, past performance and requirements of the
Company and relevant provisions in the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An audit fee of approximately HK$187,000 was charged to the Group’s income statement for the year ended 31 December
2010.

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2010
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Company has conducted a review, which covered the major control procedures in areas of financial and operations of the
Company, on the internal control system of the Group and was satisfied with the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
procedures.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The responsibilities of the Directors for preparing the financial statements and the auditor’s reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements are set out in the auditor’s report contained in this annual report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China E-Learning Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 30 to 112, which comprise the consolidated and company statements
of financial position as at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit and to report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2010 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

EMPHASIS OF MATTER

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the consolidated financial statements which indicates that the Group
incurred a net loss of HK$52,079,000 for the year ended 31 December 2010 and, as of that date, the Group’s total liabilities
exceeded its total assets by HK$51,882,000. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 2, indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Parker Randall CF (H.K.) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Seto Man Fai
Practising Certificate No.: P05229

Hong Kong
29 March 2011
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
fm B K m &

for the year ended 31 December 2010 #Z—F—FF+=-H=+—HI FE

Notes 2010 2009
G —z-z5 TP
HK$’000 HK$'000

T T

Revenue I %= 8 38,575 23,253
Cost of sales 8 5 B AR (19,370) (18,358)

Gross profit EF 19,205 4,895

Other income H i Y 55 9 20,634 3,192
Selling expenses HERX (165) (3,199)
Administrative expenses THAX (45,517) (43,290)
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE (31,506) (326,115)
Impairment loss on other intangible assets H i & 2 & & 7 J5i (8 &5 18 = (33,060)
Finance costs, net BhE B AR EE 10 (14,730) (78,059)

Loss before tax BRI B 11 (52,079) (475,636)
Income tax credit FriS i % 13 - 258

Loss for the year REEEE (52,079) (475,378)
Attributable to: BTN AL :
Owners of the Company ZN/NCIES RSN (51,898) (479,757)
Non-controlling interests FE 12 IR P (181) 4,379
(52,079) (475,378)
Loss per share BRER 15
— Basic - H K ((REXNEINY (129.45 centsfill)
— Diluted -5 N/A =3B A N/A 7 i A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
fmBEMHKGER

for the year ended 31 December 2010 #;% FFEf—F=+—HIFE

2010
—E-2F
HK$’000
FTET
Loss for the year rEEER (52,079)
Other comprehensive income Hih 2 EK =
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale At EcREERTE
financial assets e 2,225
Exchange difference arising on translation of MEBIINEBEEZ
foreign operations bE b, = 2,060
Other comprehensive income, net of tax Hah 2 mE W= (NBRHIE) 4,285
Total comprehensive loss for the year AFEELHEIEERE (47,794)
Attributable to: BT AL :
Owners of the Company PN/NEIESFEWN (CYAE))
Non-controlling interests FE 17 R % (181)

(47,794)

TEEEHEEBERR AT

2009
—ETNF
HK$’000
T T

(475,378)

600

600

(474,778)

(479,157)
4,379

(474,778)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
|||i|i A ﬂ-l E ;lk H E

As at 31 December 2010 R=—ZF—FF+—H=+—H

Notes 2010
BT s —E-EF
HK$°000
FHT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS IREBEE
Goodwill EES 16
Other intangible assets HmEEE 17
Prepaid land lease payments BN T HEHIE 18
Property, plant and equipment ME R REE 19 g
Available-for-sale financial assets At ESHEE 20 9,250
Financial derivatives SRITETHE 32 =
14,033
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories "E 22 103
Prepaid land lease payments BT L E IR 18 =
Trade and other receivables 2 5 T £ i e U 55 K 23 62,148
Amount due from non-controlling interests FiE g I R R A 3% 7 2E 24 -
Financial derivatives SRTETH 32 1,399 -
Cash and cash equivalents RehkBR&EEER 25 33,717 37,218
97,367
TOTAL ASSETS BEAE 111,400 94,556
CURRENT LIABILITIES nBEE
Trade and other payables 25 &H@VHEE?X 26
Income tax payable JER P15 %R
Amounts due to directors EREER 27
Financial derivatives \/ﬁ@?ﬁil,ﬂ\ 32
Convertible notes CEES 32
113,847
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥RBEE
Other loan Hiab &K 31 49,435
Financial derivatives SRMTETAR 32 =
Convertible notes AR ERE 32 -
49,435 305,449
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEHAE 163,282
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES) ASSETS hE(BEFH) EETE (16,480)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHER
LIABILITIES TEEE (2,447) 69,143
NET LIABILITIES EETH (51,882) (236,306)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BRARFE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ A2 &35 H A5z
Share capital &N 29 655,385 236,282
Reserves #iE 30 (711,035) (476,356)
(55,650) (240,074)
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR &S 3,768 3,768
TOTAL EQUITY @ER (51,882) (236,306)

The financial statements on pages 30 to 112 were approved and  F30BZEFI11R2AZHBRENR T ——F=ZA=-T1
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 March 2011 BEZEE&#ENRETZE TR TIHIESREREE
and are signed on its behalf by

[ =4
CHEN HONG WEI JIANYA
EEa EFE
Director Director
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Wi #5 iR iR &

As at 31 December 2010 FFEF+—_F=+—H

Notes 2010 2009
5T —E-EF —ETNEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#& T F&T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - BB R 19 8
Investments in subsidiaries Rt B AR ZIRE 21 1
Available-for-sale financial assets At ESREE 20 -
Financial derivatives SRITETA 32 316
325
CURRENT ASSETS mEEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H b ' YL BR X 23 1,196 1,139
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEU KT B A B RIAE 21 165,942 117,458
Financial derivatives SRITETA 32 1,399 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEEIER 25 15,368 23,000
183,905 141,597
TOTAL ASSETS EEH#E 193,162 141,922
CURRENT LIABILITIES REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 K& H A FE T BR 5K 26 1,068 1,002
Amounts due to directors JEfTE B HIE 27 116 116
Amounts due to subsidiaries XN ENGIE 21 80,165 82,326
Financial derivatives SRITETAR 32 1,955 -
Convertible notes Al % % E ik 32 80,922 -
164,226 83,444
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME
Financial derivatives SRITETA 32 1,640
Convertible notes A 4 % % 32 254,374
256,014
TOTAL LIABILITIES EEHA% 164,226 339,458
NET CURRENT ASSETS wEEEFE 19,679 58,153
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEHABERAD
LIABILITIES =R 28,936 58,478
NET ASSETS (LIABILITIES) EEZFEEBEFEH) 28,936 (197,536)
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAEFE
Share capital &% A 29 655,385 236,282
Reserves e 30 (626,449) (433,818)
TOTAL EQUITY MER 28,936 (197,536)

TEEEHEEBERR AT




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUI

for the year ended 31 December 2010 &%= —

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAKEAER
Available-
for-sale
Convertible financial
Share-based Exchange notes assets Non-
Share Share payment Capital ~ fluctuation equity  valuation Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Note 29) (Note 30) (Note 36) (Note 30) (Note 32)
TREE
BRX A ExKE TRREE EHEE FER E#
RE&  RHEE #E  ALRRE #F <BRERE fERE RHER &t [ $3 &it
TiEn TiEn TR T TiEL TiEL TiEL ThAL ThL FiEr TR
(WsE29)  (MFE30)  (MsE3e) (M 30) (M3 32)
At 1 January 2009 141,382 130,605 24,632 24,415 3,454 173,974 - (435,659) 62,803 - 62,803
Profit (loss) for the year REFRT(BE) - - - - - - - (479,757)  (479,757) 4379 (475378)
Other comprehensive income
for the year AEEEMREME - - - - 600 - - - 600 - 600
Total comprehensive income (loss) A E2 M (E18)
for the year o - - - - 600 - - (479757)  (479,157) 4379 (474,778)
Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests AEERERRARS - - - - - - - - - (4,379) (4,379)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEH B AR - - - - - - - - - 3,768 3,768
Issue of new shares by top-up
placing REBREERITNRN 28,000 22,400 - - - - - - 50,400 - 50,400
Share issue expenses ROBARZ - (1,181) - - - - - - (1,181) - (1,181)
Issue of shares by conversionof ~ E I KR ZHEER
convertible notes mEIRH 66,900 77,320 - - - (53,145) - - 91,075 - 91,075
Redemption of convertible notes BEARRER - - - - - (7,944) - - (7,944) - (7,944)
Employee share option benefits ESBREES - - 18,851 - - - - - 18,851 - 18,851
Issue of convertible notes BOURREE - - - - - 25,079 - - 25,079 - 25,079
Forfeited reserves of subsidiary WBARZELUEE - - - (24,415) - - - 24,415 - - -
At31 December 2009 and RZ2EAE+ZA
1 January 2010 =t-AR=-%-%F
-fA-H 236,282 229,144 43,483 137,964 (891,001) (240,074)
Profit (loss) for the year TEREM(BE) (51,898)  (51,898)

Other comprehensive income
for the year

TEEEM2ANE

Total comprehensive income (loss)
for the year

Non-controlling interests
contributions

Issue of shares under open offer

Issue of bonus shares

Share issue expenses

Issue of convertible notes

Issue of shares by conversion of
convertible notes

FERZARE(BR)

o
U

EhEnTE

LY

111,331
222,662

85,110

(222,662)
(4,480)

128,352

4,561

(71,917)

2,225

(51,898)

4,285

(47613)

111,331

(4,480)
4,561

141,545

181
111,331

141,545

Redemption of convertible notes ~ FEE AR Z - - (20,920) (20,920) (20,920)
At 31 December 2010 W=2-2%F+-A
=+-8 655385 130,354 49,688 2225  (042,899)  (55,650) (51,882)

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mBHEHEER

for the year ended 31 December 2010 &% EFE = H=1—HIFEF

Notes 2010 2009
T —E-Zf ZTENE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FRT FAEL

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REX(KELZHRLR
Loss before tax BrBi A1 (52,079) (475,636)
Adjustments for: UTEBEZRHE :
Finance costs, net BE AT 14,730 78,059
Depreciation e 2,088 1,618
Interest income FEWA (36) (25)
Amortisation of other intangible assets BiHEMmELEE 265 4,572
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments BHEM TR ETE 45
Share-based payment expense PARR 2 14 32 18,851
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE 326,115
Impairment loss on other intangible assets Hi\EPEE 2 RERE 33,060
Impairment loss on inventories FEREESR 95
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables B 5 K H AR 2 REEE 1,673
Provision for amount due from & i I 1 P 4 25 IR

non-controlling interests 2 BE 209
Write-back of other receivables ¥ 51 H fth & Y 5R0B (70)
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE BEREEZ

and equipment (Wazt) B8 (1,043) 124
Gain on redemption of convertible notes O R 2 (19,537) (1,982)

(5,405) (13,292)

Decrease (increase) in inventories FERLCEM) 29 (121)
(Increase) decrease in trade and B 5k HMmEMKRR

other receivables (1) &> (26,061) 8,649
Decrease (increase) in amount due from & UK FE 42 i 4 25 IR

non-controlling interests A () 181 (669)
Increase in trade and B 5 REAMERNER

other payables & 12,527 3,394
Decrease in amounts due to directors JEfTE B HIBER D - (135)
CASH USED IN OPERATIONS REXBFMARE (18,729) (2.174)
Overseas taxes (paid) refunded (B 1) R EEINFHE (190) 2,620
NET CASH (USED IN) REEB(FA)

FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES FEREFE (18,919) 446

TEEEHEEBERR AT



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
|||i|i A Lq @ m E E

for the year ended 31 December 2010 & Z.

SEf A= —HILFE

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceed from sales of property, plant

and equipment
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets
Interest received
Acquisition of subsidiaries
Acquisition of non-controlling interests
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

Notes 2010
Lif=3 —E-ZF
HK$°000
FET
RETHEEZEER
BEDE BFELRE (600)
HEME  BEK&E
ZFT5 5 4,627
BEAHRIESHEE (7,025)
2 F B 36
WEKB A

W B oE Hﬂ’é
16 3F 13 B4 28 IR < A B

(Increase) decrease in deposits Ze (& m) R (39,422)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM REZB (FTA)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES FERLTHE (42,384)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMETHEEZ2RER
Proceed from issue of placing shares TTEEEHxTﬁFﬁ (SE e 29 111,331
Share issue expenses fo BT X 30 (4,480)
Redemption of convertible notes fE Bl ] R R iR (51,007)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES METHMESELEE 55,844
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH ReRASEEER

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2D BImFER (5,459)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FHUzHERBREEE

BEGINNING OF THEYEAR HE
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXEH o ZE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZBASRACEE

AT THE END OF THEYEAR HH 25

2009
HK$'000
FHT

(1,665)
250

25

5,253
(284)
(4,379)

5,650

4,850

50,400
(1,181)
(20,000)

29,219

34,515

2,636

67

37,218
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GENERAL

China E-Learning Group Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market (“GEM”) of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The addresses of registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the corporate
information section of the annual report.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 21
to the consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF GOING CONCERN BASIS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis notwithstanding the Group had
net liabilities of approximately HK$51,882,000 as at 31
December 2010 and incurred a net loss of HK$52,079,000
for the year then ended.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the Group
is able to maintain itself as a going concern in the coming
year by taking into consideration the arrangements which
include, but are not limited to, the following:

1. The directors of the Company will continue to
reduce overheads and costs, and are exploring
opportunities for existing business with an aim to
attain profitable operations with positive cash flows;

2. The directors of the Company are considering
various alternatives to enlarge the capital base of
the Company in order to provide additional funding
to the Group and extend the maturity dates of
convertible notes payables; and

3. The directors of the Company will continue to scale
down the non-profitable operations.

Based on the aforesaid measures, the directors of the
Company are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare
these consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis. The consolidated financial statements do not
include any adjustments relating to the carrying amount
and reclassification of assets and liabilities that might be
necessary should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern.
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N()’l‘FG TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 &%=

3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has adopted all of the
new and revised HKFRSs (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) which are relevant to its operations and effective
for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2010.

The adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has had no
significant financial effect on these consolidated financial
statements.

FERHET RSB BB BHRELER
(ERUBHREER] )

RAFE AKEECEAATHELSEA
g([EAGFMAG])MREM HELERE -
R-B-FTF-A-HHAZEMEO S B
HERZ A RS ERT BB B REER (2
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FFEFA=1—HILFE

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs 4,

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective in
these consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

BRI B mEERIEIHR
CHES)
HKFRS 1 (Amendments)

BRI MEERFEIR
(BT A)

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

BRI B ImEERETR
(EETA)

HKFRS 9

RV @mEERFESR

HKAS12 (Amendments)

ERGTHEAE 125
(BETA)

HKAS 24 (Revised)

BB G ERF245
(#&1&37T)

HKAS 32 (Amendment)

BB G LR EI25%R
(BETA)

HK(IFRIC) Int— 14
(Amendments)

HE(BERMBRERE
ZE®)-REE145%
(BET )

HK(IFRIC) Int-19

B (BERMGRERE
ZEE)-REF19%

HKFRS (Amendments)

BEVBREEI(ERTA)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of

al -

Limited Exemption from Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters

BAXIRAE BB EENBHEERETH
HERBEEHNSFRDE

Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of Fixed Dates
for First-time Adopters

REZ L BRR GG B A RwE 2 BlE 54

Transfers of Financial Assets

BREBEE

Financial Instruments

2HITA

Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets
BEFEFIE - BB & E

Related Party Disclosures

FIEAN L

Classification of Rights Issues
7R 545

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement

RIEE 2 B ENHE

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments

URATABHELHEE

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010
—amendments to HKFRS 3 and 7
—amendments to other HKFRSs

ZF L FE B L ER

- BBUBREEREIRRETROBEE]
- HAth BB U B S ERI 5T

0 M 1 R AR B2 R ET B

4

=

EHRMENMRERZEBYBHREER

AEBYENZEEAYBRREMTICHE

BRI EEM B REE

Effective for annual

S
H#&

periods beginning on

or after
T5 AEAE
HBzEE
HEEM

1 July 2010

—E-TFLA-E

1 July 2011

—E——F+tA—H

e

— =

1 July 2011
F+H—H

1 January 2013
—ET—=%—HA—H
1 January 2012
T —F%—H—H

1 January 2011
—F-——%—H—H

1 February 2010
—E2-ZTF-_HA—H

1 January 2011

what the impact of these new and revised HKFRSs is to WEENRBENRAEENTEE

be expected in the period of initial application. However, it

is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of that
effect until a detailed review has been completed.

Aimat Z BB AR B

=

AEBECHB RSN REEITEEMB

—E-——f5—-—HF—H
1 July 2010
—Z-TFELA—A
1 July 2010
1 January 2011
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 #;3 FFEF = H=+—HiF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 5. ZEEE
These consolidated financial statements have been EAMBEHRRNEBESVERSENREM
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs. In addition, the oo BN ARAE IS IRER O B FERE S AT Al AR

consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange and the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention except for certain
financial assets which have been measured at fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Basis of consolidation
Basis of consolidation from 1 January 2010

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2010. The financial statements of the
subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period
as the Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions,
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group
transactions and dividends are eliminated on consolidation
in full.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-
controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

BH EPRAREBATEIIRT 2 EARE
G

Z*/\EM‘*#&EEE&LEW$/#J%%
Pr#l 2 & 5T IR
Bt E -

M T~ X
CETERMIATRAT

BHEE
H-F—FE—A—ARHAGEE

REMBRREBEARBAREME QAR (HH
(AEEDBEE-_Z-TF+_A=1+—RH1t
FENFBREK - HEBRRNMBRR N E
AR R BRE S E B L RA — B EER
CTE NN E 3 \EEIW%EHH(EMK%.HX
fﬂ HHEE B )RR G TEEESH B
iEZ%% B L - ﬁﬁﬁﬁllﬁ Bl AR
RXHUFEAEEARARBENR S R EMESE
MR W MER - HRE MR BB -

EMEgELBRGY  MEBARNERDER
R IEIE i -

A 88 X R B A AR S 0 B B (30 M 3R KR
B)RAREIIEEZDR S °

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises MAEBRKENB AT AT H4E - B2 4% | H1E
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the ROZWMBRAEINEE(BEHE)REE | (i)

subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling
interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any investment
retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit
or loss. The Group’s share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate.

EASEE RN REE - R(i)FFAERHZR
FHEXZR RO ERENRFE (i)
ERREIREN DN TE - R(i)HE R M E £ A
BENBBRIE R o LTSN HE M2 E U ARE
ROAKEREIER D DEBEBENBERTEHN
DEREBREHREEN o
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation prior to 1 January 2010

Certain of the above-mentioned requirements have been
applied on a prospective basis. The following differences,
however, are carried forward in certain instances from the
previous basis of consolidation:

° Acquisitions of non-controlling interests (formerly
known as minority interests), prior to 1 January
2010, were accounted for using the parent entity
extension method, whereby the differences
between the consideration and the book value of the
share of the net assets acquired were recognised in
goodwill.

o Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to
the non-controlling interest until the balance was
reduced to nil. Any further excess losses were
attributable to the parent, unless the non-controlling
interest had a binding obligation to cover these.
Losses prior to 1 January 2010 were not reallocated
between non-controlling interest and the parent
shareholders.

° Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the
investment retained at its proportionate share of net
asset value at the date control was lost. The carrying
amount of such investment at 1 January 2010 has
not been restated.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating
policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as
to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
income statement to the extent of dividends received and
receivable. The Company’s investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations from 1 January 2010

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the acquirer measures the non-
controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as
at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments.: Recognition and Measurement either in profit
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If
the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it shall
not be remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value
of the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquire
over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired, the difference is, after reassessment, recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
Business combinations from 1 January 2010 (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups
of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) and part of the operation within
that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of
the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal
of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance
is measured based on the relative values of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010 but after 1
January 2005

In comparison to the above-mentioned requirements
which were applied on a prospective basis, the following
differences applied to business combinations prior to 1
January 2010:

. Business combinations were accounted for using
the purchase method. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition formed part of the
acquisition costs. The non-controlling interest
was measured at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010 but after 1
January 2005 (Continued)

o Business combinations achieved in stages were
accounted for as separate steps. Any additional
acquired share of interest did not affect previously
recognised goodwill.

. When the Group acquired a business, embedded
derivatives separated from the host contract by the
acquiree were not reassessed on acquisition unless
the business combination resulted in a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modified
the cash flows that otherwise would have been
required under the contract.

° Contingent consideration was recognised if, and
only if, the Group had a present obligation, the
economic outflow was more likely than not and a
reliable estimate was determinable. Subsequent
adjustments to the contingent consideration were
recognised as part of goodwill.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, financial assets and goodwill), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating
unit's value in use and its fair value less costs to sell, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the consolidated income
statement in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.

TESHBEE)

ERasEBEEE)

KRoE—FF—f—AZAER - FFEF—
F— B &89 %5% 5 0 (#)

J R ETEE RSB LR
J\EE EEENENER YT BTE R
ROEEIEZE -

. EAEBEWRE —AEBE - B ES
TANTHANABRAITETATERRK
BREHNIE BEXBAHIHED
ZIERELERY  EMBRZAORAE
BREZRERELRARED -

. EHEEAKEAMAARME RAE
OB M - I B A M E AT SETRET
B 5 THERIARE - EREHAK
EBERZAEEZABEZ —#H -

FEMEERE

WEEREFRINAHEELTFERER
AEE REERBEIN)  BEFFZEAE
BEZAROHE BEZAKRDBESEE
SRSELEMZAERBERAFEMNKRH
EXRAREMERZESE  LHEEERER
BE BIZEEEMELEZRTRATERXN
HBURNEMEEX—MEEMELEZRER
A ERERT - TR EBEEIAZIRE E B
CEREELENERE -

EEEEZREEBSE WO SEE - 5T
MERRERE - RFBEREER @ [ RK
ReRnERARKRBAMSHEEEREENR
ZEBEZBERRZFENHATREFTR
EHRE -MEBEREREREEE 2R
—HZ XA A MR 2 AR A E R AR

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2010




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&n 8 Bl ¥ ¥ & M 5

for the year ended 31 December 2010 # 2

FFEFA=1—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to
an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the consolidated income statement in the period
in which it arises.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value as at
the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each reporting
period.

Platform of networks
Purchased platform of networks are stated at cost less any

impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 #;3 FFEF = H=+—HiF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment held for use in the
production or supply of goods and services, or for
administrative purpose are stated at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the consolidated
income statement in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciation.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Building The shorter of the lease terms
or 5%

Leasehold improvements The shorter of the lease terms
or 20%

Plant and equipment 20%

Furniture, fixtures and 20%
office equipment

Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at the end of each reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal
or retirement recognised in the consolidated income
statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 #; % — TFEF_A=F+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets of the Group within the scope of HKAS
39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss, loans and receivables and available-for-
sale financial assets, as appropriate. The Group determines
the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets
not at fair value through profit or not, directly attributable
transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

The Group’s financial assets include financial derivatives,
trade and other receivables, amount due from non-
controlling interests, cash and cash equivalents and
available-for-sale financial assets.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
sale in the near term. This category includes derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not
designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships
as defined by HKAS 39. Derivatives, including separated
embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss are carried in the statement of financial position
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated income statement. These net fair value
changes do not include any dividends or interest earned on
these financial assets, which are recognised in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 #; 2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether
the intent to sell them in the near term is still appropriate.
When the Group is unable to trade these financial assets
due to inactive markets and management’s intent to sell
them in the foreseeable future significantly changes, the
Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets in rare
circumstances. The reclassification from financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss to loans and receivables,
available-for-sale financial assets or held-to-maturity
investments depends on the nature of the assets. This
evaluation does not affect any financial assets designated
at fair value through profit or loss using the fair value option
at designation.

Derivatives embedded in hose contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are
not held for trading or designated at fair value through
profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
consolidated income statement. Reassessment only
occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement,
such assets are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated
by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in the consolidated income
statement. The loss arising from impairment is recognised
in the consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&n 8 Bl ¥ ¥ & M 5

for the year ended 31 December 2010 #; % — TFEF_A=F+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity and debt
securities. Equity investments classified as available-
for-sale are those which are neither classified as held
for trading nor designated at fair value through profit or
loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are
intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in
response to changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive
income in the available-for-sale financial assets valuation
reserve until the assets is derecognised, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, or until the investment is determined
to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or
loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement
and removed from the available-for-sale financial assets
valuation reserve. Interest and dividends earned are
reported as interest income and dividend income,
respectively and are recognised in the consolidated
income statement in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used
in estimating fair value, such securities are stated at cost
less any impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 #; 2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial assets
whether the ability and intention to sell them in the near
term are still appropriate. When the Group is unable to
trade these financial assets due to inactive markets and
management’s intent to do so significantly changes in the
foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets in rare circumstances. Reclassification
to loans and receivables is permitted when the financial
assets meet the definition of loans and receivables and the
Group has the intent and ability to hold these assets for
the foreseeable future or to maturity. Reclassification to the
held-to-maturity category is permitted only when the entity
has the ability and intent to hold until the maturity date of the
financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-for-
sale category, any previous gain or loss on that asset that
has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss
over the remaining life of the investment using the effective
interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised
cost and the expected cash flows is also amortised over the
remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate.
If the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired,
then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the
consolidated income statement.
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 #; % — TFEF_A=F+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when (i) the rights to receive cash flows from
the asset have expired; or (ii) the Group has transferred its
rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed
an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b)
the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised
to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement
in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial
asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be
impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that has
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an
incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or
the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications that a
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and
observable data indicating that there is a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as
changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 #; 2

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets

For available-for-sale financial assets, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is
objective evidence that an investment or a group of
investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an
amount comprising the difference between its cost (net of
any principal payment and amortisation) and its current
fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in the consolidated income statement, is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked
to and must be settled by delivery of such an unquoted
equity instrument, the amount of the loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at
the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset.
Impairment losses on these assets are not reversed.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis and
comprises costs of purchase and other costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statements of financial position, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group within the scope of HKAS
39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and financial liabilities at amortised costs, as
appropriate. The Group determines the classification of its
financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and in case of financial liabilities at amortised costs, plus
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, amounts due to directors and derivative financial
instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they
are acquired for the purpose of selling in the near term. This
category includes derivative financial instruments entered
into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by HKAS
39. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified
as held for trading unless they are designated as effective
hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held
for trading are recognised in the consolidated income
statement. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in
the consolidated income statement does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amotised cost

After initial recognition, financial liabilities at amotised
cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated income statement when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
method amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the
consolidated income statement.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Company that contain the
liability, conversion option and early redemption option
are classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition. Conversion option that will be settled by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial
asset for a fixed number of the Company’s own equity
instruments is classified as an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, both the liability and early redemption
option components are measured at fair value. The
difference between the gross proceeds of the issue of the
convertible notes and the fair value assigned to the liability
and early redemption option components respectively,
representing the conversion option for the holder to convert
the convertible notes into equity, is included in equity
(convertible notes equity reserve).

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible notes is carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The early redemption option
is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in consolidated income statement.

The equity component, representing the option to convert
the liability component into ordinary shares of the Company,
will remain in convertible notes equity reserve until the
embedded conversion option is exercised (in which case
the balance stated in convertible notes equity reserve will
be transferred to share premium). Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the
balance stated in convertible notes equity reserve will be
released to retained profits. No gain or loss is recognised
in consolidated income statement upon conversion or
expiration of the conversion option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&n 8 Bl 7% ¥ & M 5t

for the year ended 31 December 2010 #;3 TEF = H=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Convertible notes (Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
notes are allocated to the liability and equity components
in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds.
Transaction costs relating to the equity component are
charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
liability component are included in the carrying amount of
the liability component and amortised over the period of the
convertible notes using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&n 8 Bl ¥ ¥ & M 5

for the year ended 31 December 2010 #; % — TFEF_A=F+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded
in active markets is determined by reference to quoted
market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long
positions and ask price for short positions), without any
deduction for transaction costs. For financial instruments
where there is no active market, the fair value is determined
using appropriate valuation techniques. Such techniques
include using recent arm’s length market transactions;
reference to the current market value of another instrument
which is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow
analysis; and option pricing models.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation as a result of a past event, and it is
probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate
of consideration required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the
risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligations, its carrying amount is
the present value of those cash flow (where the effect is
material).

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(i) Tuition revenue from educational programs is
recognised on a time-proportion basis, using
the straight-line method, over the duration of the
relevant educational programs.

(i) Revenue from sales of educational materials and
products is recognised when the products are
delivered and title has passed to customers.

(iii) Revenue from operational software application
products is recognised when the relevant services
are rendered.

(iv) Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&n 8 Bl 7% ¥ & M 5

for the year ended 31 December 2010 #3

FEF=—H=+—HIF

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits

()

(ii)

Short term employee benefits and contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans

The obligations for contributions to defined
contribution retirement scheme are recognised
as an expense in the consolidated income
statement as incurred. The assets of the scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independent administered fund.

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service payments are recognised when they accrue
to employees. A provision will be made for the
estimated liability for annual leave and long service
payments as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
or paternity leave are not recognised until the time of
leave.

Share-based payments

The Group operates equity-settled share-based
compensation scheme (“Scheme”) to remunerate
its employees.

For share options granted under the Scheme, the
fair value of the employees’ services rendered in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised
as an expense immediately and credited to the
share-based payment reserve under equity.
Where the employees are required to meet vesting
conditions before they become entitled to the
options, the Group recognises the fair value of the
options granted over the vesting periods. At the
end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to become exercisable. It recognises
the impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, in the consolidated income statement, and
a corresponding adjustment to the share-based
payment reserve.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 # 2

FEF- A= —HILEE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(i) Share-based payments (Continued)

Upon exercise of the share options, the resulting
shares issued are recorded by the Company as
additional share capital at the nominal value of the
shares, and the excess of the exercise price over
the nominal value of the shares is recorded by
the Company in the share premium account. The
equity amount is recognised in the share-based
payment reserve until the option is exercised when
it is transferred to the share premium account if the
options lapse unexercised, the related share-based
payment reserve is transferred directly to retained
profits.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title,
are accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a
finance lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised
at the present value of the minimum lease payments and
recorded together with the obligation, excluding the interest
element, to reflect the purchase and financing. Assets
held under capitalised finance leases, including prepaid
land lease payments under finance leases, are included in
property, plant and equipment, and depreciated over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of
the assets. The finance costs of such leases are charged
to the consolidated income statement so as to provide a
constant periodic rate of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the consolidated
income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable
under operating leases net of any incentives received
from the lessor are charged to the consolidated income
statement on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&n 8 Bl 7% ¥ & M 5

for the year ended 31 December 2010 #;2 TFEF = H=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised as and included in
finance costs in the consolidated income statement in the
period in which they are incurred.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior
periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
tn 8 Bl ¥ ¥ & M 5

for the year ended 31 December 2010 #; % — TFEF_A=F+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° where the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&n 8 Bl 7% ¥ & M 5

for the year ended 31 December 2010 # 2 TFEF=A=1—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates ruling at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. All differences are taken to the
consolidated income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-
monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and associates are currencies other than Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Company at the exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period and their
income statements are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation,
the component of other comprehensive income relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout
the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 # 2

FFEFA=1—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is
under common control with, the Group; (ii) has
an interest in the Group that gives it significant
influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint control
over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;
(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or its parent;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (d);

) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for which
significant voting power in such entity resides with,
directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (d)
or (e); or

(9) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group, or of any
entity that is a related party of the Group.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified from
the financial information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type or
class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&n 8 Bl 7% ¥ & M 5

for the year ended 31 December 2010 #;2 TEF = H=+—HILFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATIONS

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period.
However, uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, after
taking into account their estimated residual values. The
Company assesses annually the residual values and the
useful lives of the property, plant and equipment and if
the expectation differs from the original estimates, such
differences from the original estimates will affect the
depreciation charges in the year in which the estimates
change.

Impairment loss on trade and other receivables

Management regularly reviews the recoverability and age
of the trade and other receivables. Appropriate impairment
for estimated irrecoverable amounts is recognised in the
consolidated income statement when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired.

In determining whether impairment on trade and
other receivables is required, the Company takes into
consideration the current creditworthiness, the past
collection history, age status and likelihood of collection.
Specific allowance is only made for receivables that are
unlikely to be collected and is recognised on the difference
between the estimated future cash flow expected to receive
of which discounted by using the original effective interest
rate and its carrying value. If the financial conditions of
customers of the Company were to deteriorate, resulting in
an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional
impairment may be required.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
ESTIMATIONS (Continued)

Valuation of share options granted

The fair value of share options granted was calculated
using the Black-Scholes valuation model which requires the
management’s estimates and assumptions on significant
calculation inputs, including the estimated life of share
options granted, the volatility of share price and expected
dividend yield. Change in the subjective input assumptions
could materially affect the fair value estimate.

Impairment loss of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill needs impairment requires
an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in
use calculation requires the entity to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flow is less than
expected, a material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2010, the carrying amount of goodwill
is nil (2009: HK$31,506,000) after an impairment loss of
HK$31,506,000 (2009: HK$326,115,000) was recognised
during 2010. Details of the impairment loss calculation
are disclosed in note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Operating segment information

Over 96% of the Group’s revenue, results, assets and
liabilities are derived from the provisions of occupational
education, industry certification course, skills training and
education consultation services, therefore management
considers the Group has one reporting segment i.e.
education business.

Geographical information

No geographical information is shown as the revenue from
external customers and non-current assets of the Group
are substantially derviced from activities or located in the
People’s Republic of China (“the PRC”).

Information about major customers

No single customer contributed 10% or more to the Group’s
revenue for both 2009 and 2010.

B 52 & 5 H B &% fd 5t (40)

EREBREZMGE

ERHBREZ AFEDERAD R — B
HREERAE ZRAZREREHEK
AEHZ2BFHMAFEBR BT RECEREE
Pzt iR - IRERIE RIS X - fid
ITEBASBEEANE  ATREEETATE
ERBERTE -

AEREER

EEREROLBARERAHESKHEZR
TELBU EREEFELG - EERE
ENERAMTENRREERCELENL
BeneERTREUFERE - WERX
XReREWEHRD MELERNBERBE -

R-ZE—ZFE+-A=+—H0 HEEEME
HHEE(ZZEZNF 31,506,000/87T) ==
— T ERNERREEIE315060008T(—EF
JLF 1 326,115,000 L) - WMEBE 2T EF
BRENGA VM BEHRRME16 -

THEEHR

REsBEHR

REBEBIBORPA - XE  -BEEMABTIR
BRHEBEHE  TERERE  ReeBEilk

HEBARYE FALERERR/TEEEAH
BEB—EREDIHE -

HwEZH

AEBAFNKEIBEL ZWARIERBE
EYRRXURPEARKMB(THE]) -
I 254 R D4R -

FEREFEHR

R-PENER-F—TF  HEIHHE
F 23 5B A K EIRAI0% A °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fn B8 Wl #5 3 &= Bl 51

for the year ended 31 December 2010 # =

10.

SEF A= —HILFE

REVENUE 8. ' ON
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the years is as REBRFRZEBADH AT :
follows:
2010
—E-ZF
HK$’000
FTERT
Tuition fee revenue HEREBZRA 37,082
Sales of educational products HEERIHE 1,172
Operational software application products EERHERAER 321
38,575
OTHER INCOME 9. Hug A
2010
—E-ZF
HK$’000
FTERT
Other income and gains Hi g A Rz
Gain on redemption of convertible notes B O] 7] #2 iR = 1R 2 W 19,537
Exchange gains, net [ 5 U 5505 58 =
Interest income MEKA 36
Rental income ek A =
Sundry income FEWA

FINANCE COSTS, NET

Interest expenses on convertible notes
(note 32)

Fair value changes on financial derivatives
(note 32)

10. BERAKRFHE

2010
—E-FF
HK$’000
FET
BB EE R BERAE
(Bt5E32) 14,911
SRMOTLETEAFERSH
(MI7E32) (181)

14,730

2009
—ETNF
HK$'000
FAT

23,239
14

23,253

2009
—ZETNF
HK$'000
FAT

1,982
65

25
975
145

3,192

2009
—ETNF
HK$'000
T T
35,220
42,839

78,059

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED
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11.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fx B Wil ¥ 3 &= Ml ot

LOSS BEFORE TAX

Loss before tax is arrived at after
charging (crediting):

Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration
(note 12))
— salaries and other benefits
— defined contribution plans contributions
- share-based payments expense (note 36)

for the year ended 31 December 2010 #Z.

1. BREAEIE

BB EEE MB GGEA)
THIEE -

BERA(BIEEEWNE
(Bt3E12))
- HEeREMER
- TR SEE 'R

— AR 0 32 A B 32 (P 5E36)

Auditors’ remuneration

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

% 2R B &
ME BERRBZIFTE

—included in cost of sales - BIERHE KA A

—included in selling expenses -BEREERIA

—included in administrative expenses - BERITTERAYRN
Amortisation of other intangible assets HEfh i E 2 N
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments A T EFRIE 2 #5H
Impairment loss on inventories FEREEE
Impairment loss on trade receivables E S RWERRREEE

Impairment loss on other receivables
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment

Minimum lease payments under operating
lease in respect of:
—land and buildings
— others

H th f& Y SRR R E B 1R
HEME BEEREZ
(W) B R

RERORERE
IE
-t RETF
- Hitb

Exchange losses (gains), net

PE 3 518 (MWas) @ ¥ 8

TEFEF = F=1+—HIFE

2010 2009

A il =~
HK$’000 HK$'000
el i

8,954
43
18,851

27,848
300
1,002
11
605
1,618
4,572
45

95
916
757

124

TEEEHEEERR AT




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

|||i|i A ﬂ-l E iﬂ E “ﬂ III

for the year ended 31 December 2010 % —ZFE—FF+ - H=+—HIFFZ

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREEMS
REMUNERATIONS
a. Directors’ remunerations a. EEMWS
Salaries,
allowances BEE N Performance
and benefits scheme  Share-based related
Fees inkind contributions payment bonuses Total
e 2 BRI *B
we REWAG % MR %A HEEA @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT
For the year ended BE-E-BF
31 December 2010 +ZA=t-H
LEE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Chen Hong BERE
Ms. Wang Hui (note v) T2+ (fsy)
Ms. Wei Jianya gDt

Independent Non-Executive By FHTES
Directors

Ms. Chan Hoi Ling (note vi) B

Dr. Wong Yun Kuen (note vii) /82

S
ﬂ:lﬁl_%

;
VSR
|_F
,EH
=

Dr. Huang Chung Hsing E%E@iﬁt
Mr. Cheung Wai Tak (note i) SR f& 12 4% 4 (Mt &Fiii)
Mr. Wu Tao (note iv) B2 08 A (F Fiv)
Salaries,
allowances Retirement Performance
and benefits scheme  Share-based related
Fees inkind contributions payment bonuses Total
E =1 RIRETE =B
we REWIH it SARR 3% f ABEL &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TAER TAR TAR TAER TAR
For the year ended EEa 3
31 December 2009 +-A=+—-H
IHEE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Chen Hong RELE - 1,065 - 1,279 - 2,344
Ms.Liang Juan (note i) 2ELL (M) - 230 - 1616 - 1,846
Ms. Wang Hui (note v) TExL (i) - 800 - 1,347 - 2,147
Ms. Wei Jianya ERDLT - 300 - 404 - 704
Mr. Li Xiangjun (note ii) 2 A (P s - 133 - 1,750 - 1,883
Independent Non-Executive By FHTES
Directors
Ms. Chan Hoi Ling R ELL 60 - - - - 60
Dr. Wong Yun Kuen EHERT 60 - - - _ 60
Dr. Huang Chung Hsing HERARL 60 - - - - 60
180 2,528 - 6,396 - 9,104

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2010



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&n 8 Bl ¥ ¥ & M 5

for the year ended 31 December 2010 &% FFEf—H=+—HIFEF

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12 ESREEME#E)
REMUNERATIONS (Continued)
a. Directors’ remunerations (Continued) a. EEME (&)

Notes: B EE -

(i) Ms. Liang Juan was resigned on 18 May 2009. (i) RELITHR _ZBEZTALFRA+NHE
£ o

(ii) Mr. Li Xiangjun was resigned on 11 June 2009. (if) FPHELEER_ZTTAF AT —HE
£ o

(iii) Mr. Cheung Wai Tak was appointed on 11 June 2010. (iii) REBREENRZ-ZTFAT—HE
EE -

(iv) Mr. Wu Tao was appointed on 24 June 2010. (iv) REXER-Z—ZFFA-THAE
EE -

(v) Ms. Wang Hui was resigned on 10 June 2010. (v) FELZITR=ZFT-ZTA+HEE-

(vi) Ms. Chan Hoi Ling was resigned on 11 June 2010. (vi) RINELXTHR_FT—FT A+ —B#
ff e

(vii) Dr. Wong Yun Kuen was resigned on 24 June 2010. (vii) EHREITN TS XA-THAH
£ o

In 2010, the amounts of share-based payments RIZE—ZF  UBRINEEIIREBEGEES MG

were measured according to the Group’s MRS AEREMURINT Gz &

accounting policies for share-based payment AHEFE -BREARNEREAERTFES

transactions as set out in note 5 to the consolidated ZEREFBH NG AU IE MR 36

financial statements. Particulars of share options
to the directors under the Company’s share option
scheme are set out in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of the directors of the Company waived or BE-_Z-ZEFR-_ZEFTAF+-_A=+—H
agreed to waive any remunerations paid by the IREFE  BMERARAEEHENREWNE
Company and no incentive payment for joining the FERBRARAENZNE MERMAKXRR
Company or compensation for loss of office was ST AT SR E FIE BB E T AR A
paid or payable to any director of the Company FRESE -

during the two years ended 31 December 2010 and

2009.

TEBKRHEEEARAF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fn B8 Wl #5 3 &= Bl 51

for the year ended 31 December 2010 #%. EE+ —A=+—HIFFE

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREEMS(#)
REMUNERATIONS (Continued)
b.  Five highest paid individuals b. IuUESHFAL
Of the five individuals with the highest AEEBRUESHFALTBEBEARAFME
remunerations in the Group, four (2009: three) were (ZEENF =R)8F BE 25
directors of the Company, whose remunerations REXER INTESK—R(ZEET
are included in the disclosures above. The NF - WMB)ALZHBHOT

remunerations of the remaining one (2009: two)
individuals were as follows:

2010 2009
- S Ll —TTAF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTH T FAT
Salaries, allowances and benefits inkind Bl ~ ZBE R EWH &= 702 1,194
Retirement scheme contributions RIRET I3 24
Performance related bonuses FIMRIELT -
Share-based payment LA RS 32 45 50008 1,077
2,295
Their remunerations were within the following band: BEZHMESERTINEER :
AE
2009
—EENF
HK$nil to HK$1,000,000 Z %1,000,0007% 7T -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T 2 1,500,000 7T 2
13. INCOME TAX CREDIT 13. FiEBiESR
2010 2009
—E-ZF gmEapies
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Current tax: REABLIE -
- Hong Kong -BE -
- The PRC — 252
Over-provision in prior years: TE B
- The PRC - f (510)
Income tax credit Ffr 15 10 15 % (258)
Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5% REFZZEBNEBRDBBENEBESE 2 B
(2009:16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in JERT A TNIE165% 2 HEFHE(ZEZNF -
Hong Kong during the year. 16.5%) °

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2010



13.

14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINA\T(‘IAL STATEMENTS
8 il ¥ & & M 5

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2010, no Hong Kong
profits tax has been provided for as the Group did not
generate any taxable profits in Hong Kong (2009: nil).

Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions. Under the
Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate

of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% (2009: 25%).

The tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before tax per the consolidated income statement as

follows:

Loss before tax

for the year ended 31 December 2010 #Z.

FEL—H=F—HIFE

13. FIBHERE)

B 5% B &5 18

B & B TS

IHEGFE

HREBEZE-Z-—ZFF_A=FT—HLEFER
SEIWENEEE LM ERDE T
SHEBH(—ZTZNF - &) -

Hit ez R EL 2 RBRESERDEER 2B

RB(PEEEMBTIE) (1R

FTBRED ROEEME mazamﬂﬁu W E
MBARZHME A% (ZEZNF 1 25%) °
REENHBRE LA WSRO ATE B
HERMT -

2010 2009
el 7
HK$’000 HK$'000
el it
(52,079) (475,636)

Tax at respective applicable tax rates
Over-provision in prior years
Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
Tax effect of exemption granted to non-profit
making institute

RAMERN XA E ZHIE
EFBERE

TAMBAIZHBEE
BARBBAZREZE

AERREBBIHBEE

SERNABERR R 2T

B 428
7R El

(8,593) (82,110)
- (510)
6,180 80,863
(1,701) (1,200)
4,114 3,332

(633)

Tax credit for the year AEFEHIBR R

DIVIDEND 14. BKRE

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31 HE-_Z—ZTF+-_A=+—HILEFEITEK
December 2010, nor has any dividend been proposed ﬂ‘HZTEﬁ?)EEHEﬂHx B REERETEEZR
since the end of the reporting period (2009: nil). MEMBRE(ZZZT NG + ) o

hEEEHE

SEERAA




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&n 8 Bl 7% ¥ & M 5t

for the year ended 31 December 2010 #3

15.

16.

FEF = H=+—HIF

LOSS PER SHARE 15. SKREE
The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on the FEREARBEDIEBEREERNAD ﬂ HAE A
loss for the year attributable to the owners of the Company JE {5 B 18 4951,898,0008 ;L(Z T Z A, F
of approximately HK$51,898,000 (2009: HK$479,757,000), 479,757,000 7T) * A R HEUR B F RN
and based on the weighted average number of shares BITHBRG  ABRKEABREEREEIRMD
in issue during the year of approximately 1,001,205,000 BOTRMDZ2FEFRNEBETROMEFSEHE D
ordinary shares (2009: 370,591,000), as adjusted to reflect 1 001 205,0000% ( === /14F :370,591,000/% )
the issue of new shares, bonus shares and shares by Rt -
conversion of convertible notes during the year.
No diluted loss per share has been presented for 2009 HMATEZERERTBRIEEZEEHAEY 2
and 2010 as the share options and convertible notes EREAEEEAREEHR  QHIEEZ5 =
outstanding have anti-dilutive effects on the basic loss per EENFR-_T-STFEFEZEREERSRE -
share amounts presented.
GOODWILL 16. BB
The Group
AEE
HK$'000
FAT
COST 24N
At 1 January 2009 —EENF—HA—H 647,598
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note (i)) W B B B8~ &) (B &) 31,222
Acquisition of non-controlling interests (note (i) & B8 3F 22 P& 4 25 (Bff =5 (i) 284
At 31 December 2009 and 2010 RNZEENFR_E—FTFF+_HA=+—H 679,104
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT Z5HRE
At 1 January 2009 RZZEThEFE—H—H 321,483
Recognised during the year FAER 326,115
RZZEZRF+=ZA=T—HBR
At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010 —E-ZTF—-HF—H 647,598
Recognised during the year FRHER 31,506
At 31 December 2010 R-ZE—ZEF+=-A=+—H 679,104
NET CARRYING AMOUNT REFE
At 31 December 2010 W_E-—FTF+_H=+—H -
At 31 December 2009 R_ZETZNF+-_A=+—H 31,506

Note:

(i) Goodwill arose on acquisition of subsidiaries, IIN Medical (BVI)
Group Limited (“lIN Medical (BVI)”) and its subsidiaries on 23
April 2009.

(ii) Goodwill arose on acquisition of non-controlling interests
of Hunan |IN Medical Network Technology Development
Company Limited, a subsidiary of IIN Medical (BVI), in May
2009.

CEX

(i) AEDRZZETZNFOUA=T=BKRENBR
A BB 25(BV) R B ([N B8 22 (BVI) ) R E M
BARREL -

(ii) Fﬁﬁiﬂﬂ_ggniﬁﬂuﬁzﬁ%lﬂ 2 52 (BVI).2
MEAR - HEBEMBERENEEEAERA
TZ;H AR A A A o

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2010



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINA\'(‘IAL STATEMENTS
&n 8 Bl ¥ ¥ & M 5

for the year ended 31 December 2010 &%=

16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Acquisition of New Beida Business Study Net
Group Limited (“New Beida”)

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had performed
an impairment testing of goodwill arose on
acquisition of New Beida with reference to a valuation
carried out by LCH (Asia-Pacific) Surveyors Limited
(“"LCH"), an independent qualified valuer. As New
Beida sustained a negative cash flow for the year
ended 31 December 2009 and such position was
expected to continue in the foreseeable future, the
directors of the Company were of the opinion that
the income approach was inappropriate to reflect
the value of New Beida as at 31 December 2009.
The asset-based approach had been adopted for
the valuation for the year ended 31 December 2009.
Based on the business valuation, the Group had
recognised an impairment loss of HK$326,115,000 in
relation to goodwill arose on acquisition of New Beida
for the year ended 31 December 2009. As a result,
the goodwill arose on acquisition of New Beida of
HK$647,598,000 was identified to be fully impaired.

Acquisition of IIN Medical (BVI)

As at 31 December 2010, the Group has performed
an impairment testing of goodwill arose on
acquisition of IIN Medical (BVI) with reference to a
valuation carried out by Grant Sherman Appraisal
Limited, an independent qualified valuer, based
on cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets for the next five years
with a discount rate of 17.83%. The directors of
the Company were of the opinion, based on the
business valuation, that the Group had regressed
as impairment loss of HK$31,506,000 in relation to
goodwill arose from the acquisition of IIN Medical
(BVI) as at 31 December 2010 (2009: nil). As
a result, the goodwill HK$31,506,000 arose on
acquisition of [IN Medical (BVI) was identified to be
fully impaired.

The recoverable amount of the goodwill has been
determined on the basis of value in use calculation.
The key factors for the value in use calculation are
discount rates, growth rates and expected changes
in revenue and direct costs. Capital Asset Pricing
Model has been adopted to estimate the discount
rate by using market data of other companies with
business similar to IIN Medical (BVI). The growth
rate is based on the historical Consumer Price
Index of the PRC. Changes in revenue and direct
costs are based on past performance of [IN Medical
(BVI) and management’s expectation of the market
development.

FFE+—H=1F—HIFFE

16. BEE(%#)
BHERENR

WEFLABEREETRAT(HL
b))

R-ZZETNF+_A=+—8 £&£H
%%ﬁi B hEMAISBTAEME
RA(TFETDEREZHE @ ETH
%%%ﬁk%%%ﬁEMﬁEMﬁo
HRAFIELARBE-_ZEZEAFE+ A
=+—HILFE iz‘“’ﬁ aiRenzE
Mz R TEEAR ] R ARARIDAFE - K
RRAIBERE  WAETEE B
ARZZEZENF+_A=Z+—B2E
B - BEEEIRWNEEE _TTNE
T+ A=+ —BLEFEZHERE-
ERZEBGHE AEBREE_ZT
NWE+-_A=+—BItEEHEREH
EAREFtAMEEHE 2 REERE
326,115,0007% 7T ° At - FHUEEFTIE K
i 2 4 27 2 647,598,0007% 7T B 1R A%
2 EURME -

Wi B AT B8 22 (BVI)

R-ZZE—ZFTF+_A=Z+—80 &%
@ﬂwﬁi ﬁ%m@%¢ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
AEMEH ZHE - AU H 5
mwﬁEEZﬁ@L TRE R o ﬁ
AEEDRERENRRAFHREE
(BhIR E17.83%) MiETT 2 H & M= 88
Lﬁ ARFEERE  REBEZESMS
B R-_E—ZTF+_A=+—HEK
%Iﬁ S5k (BY)MAELME ZREKE
31,506,000 L (ZZEZENF : T) - A&
It RS B AT B %5 (BV) T E A 2 P2

31,506,000/8 TTE 18 A2 BURE -

FERZAIKRESHECREREEFER
&#m EREEAEZEIZREAW

BEREEKARZHEEREE  BEERIAH
B EAEETERACERMNIER
FHRAIR K - Jh(E A EE B AR B AR (BVIE
ERUEBZEMBRRZ TSR < 1
REDENTEZBEHRBMERS -
Yo g e B H PR 2 5B BBl T AR 97 R AR 8
(BV)ZBAERBERERBHMHERZ
BEHmEL -

hEEEHE

SEERAA




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
|||ili A H-I E iﬁ ﬁ “ﬂ III

for the year ended 31 December 2010 # % CFEf— A=+—HILFE

17  OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17 HMtEFEEE
HK$'000
FAT
cosT B
At 1 January 2009 RZEThEF—H—H 40,455
Acquisition of subsidiaries Wiz B BfT 8 & ) 4,537
Exchange realignment ME XA 512
At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010 RZZETZNEF+ZA=+—HBR
—Z2-ZFTF—H—H 45,504
Exchange realignment [ 5, 3 B 2,690
At 31 December 2010 R—ZE—FF+=-A=+—H 48,194
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION A #ERBE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2009 RZEZThF—H—H 3,548
Acquisition of subsidiaries )= e 4,008
Charge for the year FNEHR 4,572
Impairment loss recognised during the year FANERREREE 33,060
Exchange realignment [ i, 3 =& 51
At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010 ZEENFF+ZA=T—HBR
—E—FTHF—F—H 45,239
Charge for the year 3N uﬂ“m 265
Exchange realignment I 3, 58 % 2,690
At 31 December 2010 R=ZF-FF+=-A=+—8H 48,194
NET CARRYING AMOUNT REFE
At 31 December 2010 NR-E—FTFE+—-H=+—§g B
At 31 December 2009 RZBTZNEFE+_A=+—H 265
=
18. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 18. ANTHBEEIKE
The Group’s prepaid land lease payments represent: ARERMLHEEFABE
2010 2009
—Z-ZF gk
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT FAET
Medium-term leasehold land in the PRC URARBEAFREREERE 1,079
Analysed for reporting purpose as: ATIE2HA R -
— non-current assets -JEmEBEE 1,039
— current assets - mEBEE 40
1,079
The leasehold land was disposed during the year. HETHMERFALE -

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2010



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&n 8 Bl ¥ ¥ & M 5

for the year ended 31 December 2010 #; % — TFEF_A=F+—HIFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. V¥ - BEERXR®E
a. THE GROUP a. rEE
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold Plant and and office Motor
improvements Building machinery equipment vehicles Total
HENX BEHER
% BF BEREHE BOERE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TET
Cost ﬁS?,Zk
At 1 January 2009 R-ZZNF—HF—H 1,503 - 4741 1,137 489 7,870
Additions N E 1,560 - - 105 - 1,665
Acquisition of subsidiaries Uk EE i B A Al - 1,427 5,228 2,467 - 9,122
Disposal HE - - - (489) (489)
Exchange realignment IE 5 14 1 62 10 - 87
At 31 December 2009 RZBEAF
and 1 January 2010 +-ZA=+-8kK
—T-ZF—-F—-H 3,077 1,428 10,031 3,719 - 18,255
Additions NE - - - 222 378 600
Disposal & (1,807) (1,443) - (4) - (3,254)
Reclassification BN - - (10,031) 10,031 - -
Exchange realignment fERHAE 25 15 - 151 - 191
At 31 December 2010 R-B-Zf
+ZA=+t-H 1,295 - 14,119 378 15,792
Accumulated depreciation £ 3t & K& &
and impairment
At 1 January 2009 —EENF—-A—H 294 498 253 74 1,119
Charge for the year E A uﬂ 324 45 863 345 4 1,618
Acquisition of subsidiaries WK B2 A - 303 4,705 1,878 - 6,886
Disposal HE - - - - (115) (115)
Exchange realignment [& 3 2 1 9 3 - 15
At 31 December 2009 —EENF
and 1 January 2010 Jrfﬂ_ir ARk
—T-2F—-f—-H 620 349 6,075 2,479 - 9,523
Charge for the year FRR 615 60 - 1,288 125 2,088
Disposal & (290) (412) - - - (702)
Reclassification BHNE - (6,075) 6,075 - -
Exchange realignment &3 - 3 - 97 - 100
At 31 December 2010 R-E-ZF
+=ZB=+-H 945 - - 9,939 125 11,009
Net carrying amount BHEE
R-ZE-Z%
At 31 December 2010 +=-A=+-8 350 - - 4,180 253 4,783
RZZENE
At 31 December 2009 +-A=+—8 2,457 1,079 3,956 1,240 - 8,732

TEBKRHEEEARAF



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&n 8 Bl 7% ¥ & M 5t

for the year ended 31 December 2010 #%. TEF_A=F+—HIFE

19. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 19. Y ¥ - BERR#E &)

b. THE COMPANY b. P/ NN
Furniture,
fixtures
and office
equipment
&M £E
ERAZE
&
HK$'000
FAET
Cost ﬁJ?.Z!K
At 1 January 2009 AZEENF—H—H 8
Additions NE 3
At 31 December 2009 and 2010 RZZEZNFR_ZT—ZTF+=A
=+—H 11
Accumulated depreciation ZFWE
At 1 January 2009 RZZEERE—-—H—H 1
Charge for the year FANEE 2
At 31 December 2009 and 1 January 2010 RZEZNhF+_A=+—"HK
—E—ZF—HF—H 3
Charge for the year F AR 2
At 31 December 2010 RZFE—LTF+_HA=+—H 5
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2010 R-ZE—ZEF+-_A=+—H 6
At 31 December 2009 R-ZZEZNF+=-_A=+—H 8
20. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 20, AHHESREE
The Group and the
Company
AEERARAT
2010 2009
—E-ZF pmieayies

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAET

Listed equity securities, at fair value FHRERES  RATE
—In Hong Kong - B8
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 # 2

FFE+—H=1F—HIFFE

21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Unlisted shares, at cost
Less: impairment loss

2. RHBARZEE

LML AR

B OB RS

The Company
AT
2010 2009
—z-z5 EELpE
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET THET
800,012 800,012
(800,011) (800,011)
1 1

The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free

and have no fixed terms of repayment.

Details of the subsidiaries of the Company as at 31

December 2010 are as follows:

Name of company

IR

China E-Learning (Hong Kong)
Limited

TEEEHRE (BB BRRA

New Beida Business StudyNet

Group Limited
HUEABERERERAA

Best Boom Enterprises Limited
ERCEARAA

HKHE

=T -HZHFBHT

Place of incorporation/ Issue and fully paid

registration/
operations

M,
TEmE

Hong Kong

BB

British Virgin Islands
(“BVI")

REBELES
([HEREXES])

BVI
RERAEHS

up share capital/
registered capital

RTRBERE
HEMER

Ordinary shares HK$1

Ordinary shares
US$10,000
10,0005 7T & i %

Ordinary shares US$10
105 7T % Ak

Proportion ownership
interest held by the
Company
Directly Indirectly

ARRBEHEARE
%
E# %

100% —

100% =

— 100%

HfEARCEBRIDERR RS REREE

ARAEELHBRAAR-T—BF+= 1

Principal activities

FEER

Provision of management
services to group
companies

REE AR RBEERYE

Investment holding

REEKR

Investment holding

REZK

TEBKRHEEEARAF
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 #;3 FFE+ = H=+—HiF

21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 2. RMEBLARZRE#E)
Place of incorporation/ Issue and fully paid Proportion ownership
registration/ up share capital/ interest held by the
Name of company operations registered capital Company Principal activities
Directly Indirectly
S BORBERE APRBEHERE
EIEE R ERE-EN % TEEH
E# 5%

Beijing Hua Tuo Education The PRC Registered capital — 100% Provision of occupational

Technology Company Limited HK$40,000,000 education, industry
certification course,
skills training and
education consultation

T RERAHERBERAA e 40,000,0007% 7 &t fif & A REBEHE  1TERE

n%%i ﬁﬁb uu‘l&?yﬁ
k)

Beijing Ke Xiong Education The PRC Registered capital — 100% Provision of occupational

Company Limited RMB5,000,000 education, industry
certification course,
skills training and
education consultation

ERMEHEERRAF th A R #5,000,0007T RUBEHE T£RE

HMER u%& S EAEEIE )
k)

Beijing Yi You Xing Service The PRC Registered capital — 100% Provision of occupational
and Technology Development RMB2,000,000 education, industry
Company Limited certification course,

skills training and
education consultation
TREREMRERARRA  FH AR #2,000,0007T REBEHE 1TERE
BNV u%%i BESEE ]
k)

[IN Medical (BVI) Group Limited ~ BVI Ordinary shares — 100% Investment holding
HK$13,677,288

EAEEBEEERD RERURS 13,677,288 7L & @ RERK

[IN Medical Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares — 100% Investment holding
HK$3,000,000

BREEEXZERD B 3,000,000/ 7 & i ik BRERK

Hunan IIN Medical Network The PRC Registered capital — 100% Investment holding
Technology Development RMB14,530,808
Company Limited

BN E SRR R hE AR %14,530,8087C REZEK
ARDA HAMER

Distance Education College of ~ The PRC Registered capital — 51% Provision of distance
Beijing University of Chinese RMB900,000 learning programin
Medicine Chinese medicine

ERmBERBIRER hE AR #900,0007 REPEERRERE
HEZR HAMER

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2010
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21. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 2. AMNEBLARAZERE#E)
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting RERIFRIMER  ZEWBE QR W ETL
at the end of the year or at any time during the year (2009: MEEES(ZEZhE &) o
nil).
22. INVENTORIES 22, ®RE
The Group
rEE

2010 2009
—z-z7 [EEEPR
HK$’000 HK$'000
57 ISP

Finished goods RUAK oh 103 132
103 132
23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. EZRHEHMEWER
The Group The Company
rEE AT

2010 2009 2010 2009
i - Bl =~
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
i o EEEEEN i

Trade receivables =) 3 E N 1,313 916 -
Less: impairment loss & REE R (916) (916)

Other receivables H fth fE U FRIB 39,664
Less: impairment loss B OB EE B (19,818) (1, 176

19,846
62,148

Prepayments and deposits FERTRIE RIRE

TEEEHEEERR AT
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 #t3 FFEf—H=+—HIFEF

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. EBEZRHMEWERRE)

B 5 RYR R ERER 2 RPRZRE

An aging analysis of trade receivables net of provisions for

impairment at the end of the reporting period is as follows: ST
2010 2009
gl T F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FHET

Within 30 days 30H A

31to 60 days 31HZE60H A
61 to 90 days 61HZE90H A
Over 90 days HEE90H

General credit term that the Group offers to customers is
30 days from billing. Trade receivables disclosed above
include amounts which are past due at the end of the
reporting period for which the Group has not recognised an
allowance for doubtful debts because there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still
considered recoverable.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group’s trade
and other receivables were individually determined to
be impaired. The individually impaired receivables are
recognised based on the credit history of customers, such
as financial difficulties or default in payments, and current
market conditions. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

AEBE—RATFPRHUARERRF0ANE
B8 EXHRBEZESEUREREERREH
REBHZHE AREEEEYEEANEL
R AR BAN AR A AU E - RN S 3 4 T
RRERE -

REZ2HMYPR - NEBE 2 HE F N H 0 BUKIRZ
TEREE RS F BRIE o fE5RI{EZ EU R
ANRBEEP ZEE L8108 BN 2 iE
RFEB)RBITTRER - ARELERER
REFHEAERR -

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 #Z —F—F#F+ - H=+—HILFF

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. EBEZRHMEWERRE)

The Group’s movement of provision for impairment of trade AREBEMRESERWEREZFTRERGE 2 &S W
receivables is as follows: T
The Group
&

2010 2009
—z-z7 [EEEPR
HK$’000 HK$'000
57 ISP

At 1 January R—HA—H 916 -
Impairment recognised ERRRE 916
At 31 December R+—_A=+—H 916
The Group’s movement of provision for impairment of other AEBSMEMEWNSERERE ZHN
receivables is as follows: T -
The Group
xS H
2010 2009
—z-zc [RELIES
HK$’000 HK$'000
TET FHET
At 1 January n—H—H 1,176 468
Impairment recognised 2R E 757
Impairment reversed R E (70)
Exchange realignment PE 3, 5 B 21
At 31 December R+—_A=+—8H 1,176
24. AMOUNT DUE FROM NON-CONTROLLING 24, RWFEREZE XA
INTERESTS
The amount is unsecured, interest-free and was fully repaid ZHRBELDEER 2ERERFAZEEER

during the year.

TEBKRHEEEARAF
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25, HeRBELEEEH
The Group The Company
7 £ G

2010 2009 2010 2009
—E2-2F pmERE — T - T i
HK$’000 HK$'000 EEEEETI HK$'000
FHx TAT FEx TAT

Bank balances RITHE R 29,226 23,846 10,985 9,652
Cash balances R4 &6 175 29 67 5
Cash in licensed corporation R EE 2H S 4,316 13,343 4,316 13,343

Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEEEHR 33,717 37,218 15,368

Cash and deposits with banks of HK$15,981,000 NEB 2R KIBTHFR15,981,000 B (==
(2009:HK$12,504,000) for the Group are denominated in T AF 12,504,000 70) ThAAREESIE - M
Renminbi, which is not a freely convertible currency and ARBIWIEE B EBREHE - [[H BB HME X
the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the B B BT R INE B SRR o

exchange control imposed by the PRC government.

Deposits with banks are interest bearing at the prevailing WITFERIRER MG EFTE -
market rates.

26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. EZRHMEMERR
The Group The Company
FEE YN
2010 2010
—z-2F e =t B ¥2
HK$°000 HK$°000
TET BT THET
Trade payables B SRR 28
Other payables H b B 3008
Receipt in advance T8 YR IE
Accrued charges JEET &
An aging analysis of the trade payables as at the end of BEEMEZNERBAREBDFNNOT :
reporting period is as follows:
The Group
rEE
2010 2009
il —TThF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FET
Within 30 days 30H A -
31to 60 days 31H£60H -
61 to 90 days 61HZ=90H i -
Over 90 days @0 H 1,179
1,179
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27. AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS 27, ENESBFRE
The Group and the Company REBRAERQTF
The amounts are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed ERRBEAEEN R REETENE -
terms of repayment.
28. DEFERRED TAXATION 28. EEHIE
(a) The Group (a) #XKH
The components of deferred tax (assets) liabilities RIEET AR ARANER ZELTIE
recognised in the consolidated statement of (’é{?)ﬁfﬁﬁﬂﬁ*ﬁfﬁ&ﬁ\ilﬁz """"" A 8h 0
financial position and the movements during the T

years are as follows:

Accelerated
tax

depreciation Tax losses Total
MEFHERE HHEESE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2009 RZEThE—H—H 8 (8) -
Movement for the year F N - - -
At 31 Decemeber 2009 and RZZEZTh&F+=A
1 January 2010 =+—B8k
Movement for the year FRNEH 20 (20) -
At 31 December 2010 RZE—FF
+=-A=+—8H 28 (28) -
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had REHRPR ANKE G AEY

HAXGHNZASAHBEBEEY
A 27,841,000 & (= T T L F -

23,664,00078 7T ) © F A AR BE TR K 2%
FRR - MW ERZEHERRELER
HEE - ZEHEBBEVERPLES -

estimated the unused tax losses of approximately
HK$27,841,000 (2009: HK$23,664,000) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
assets have been recognised in respect of such
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. The tax losses can be carried forward
indefinitely.

(b) The Company (b) ARF

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
unused tax losses of approximately HK$15,837,000
(2009: HK$15,837,000) available for offset against
future profits. No deferred tax assets have been
recognised in respect of such losses due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax
losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

REFPR AR ERPB KA
&5 18 #715,837,0008 T (— T & L F ¢
15,837,000 7t ) A FAVEH 88 R SO F ©
B P 2R BE T8 B AR 2R I RR - B 4B B
ZEBEBRRELEHEBEEE - ZSWE
Bl (R HR AL S o

hEEEHE

SEERAA
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 #3

29.

FEF = H=+—HIF

SHARE CAPITAL 29. MR
The Group and the Company REBRAERQTF
Number of
shares Amount
RHOHAR k]
Notes HK$'000
B & FAT
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2009 RZZEZTh&F—HA—H 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each FREBE BT EBR - -
Share consolidation 1 & GF c (8,000,000,000) -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.5 each RZZETNF+ZA
at 31 December 2009 and —t+t—-BR=ZZE—ZF
1 January 2010 —A—HEKREE
058 L2 BB 2,000,000,000 1,000,000
Increase of authorised capital V2 R AR 3E N d 8,000,000,000 4,000,000
Ordinary shares of HK$0.5 each R-Z2-Z2F+=ZA=+—H
at 31 December 2010 SREESETZEBER 10,000,000,000 5,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHAZRA
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each R-ZZEZhh&FE—H—H
at 1 January 2009 FREENE Tz ERBR 1,413,819,475 141,382
Issue of new shares by RIEH R B E BITH KRG
top-up placing a 280,000,000 28,000
Issue of shares by conversion AR RIREER
of convertible notes [y 4% b 669,000,000 66,900
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each FREE1B T EBEK 2,362,819,475 236,282
Share consolidation & GF c (1,890,255,580) -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.5 each ZEENFFTZA=1+—H
at 31 December 2009 and &7-@ TH—HA—H
1 January 2010 BREESE L L@ 472,563,895 236,282
Issue of shares by conversion of ARRk R EEGR
convertible notes mE 17D e 170,220,799 85,110
Issue of shares by open offer AAREEEITRGD f 222,661,915 111,331
Issue of bonus shares BITHIR f 445,323,830 222,662
Ordinary shares of HK$0.5 each R=-—ZB-ZTHE+=-A=+—H
at 31 December 2010 SREHESETZEBER 1,310,770,439 655,385
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 &%= —

FE+ A=+ —AILEE

29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(d)

On 20 July 2009, pursuant to the top-up placing and
subscription agreement, 280,000,000 new shares were issued
at the subscription price of HK$0.18 per share. The gross
proceeds from placing of new shares before issue expenses
amounted to approximately HK$50,400,000. Details of the
placing are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 3
August 2009 and 5 August 2009.

During the year ended 31 December 2009, convertible notes
in the principal amount of HK$133,800,000 were converted by
holders to subscribe for 669,000,000 shares at a conversion
price of HK$0.2 per share.

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 16 December 2009, with
effect from 17 December 2009, every five issued and unissued
shares HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company will
be consolidated into one consolidated share of HK$0.50 each.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 11 May 2010,
the authorised share capital of the Company was increased
from HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 shares to
HK$5,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares by the
creation of additional 8,000,000,000 shares.

During the year ended 31 December 2010, convertible notes
in the principal amount of HK$168,423,879 were converted
by holders to subscribe for 170,220,799 shares. Details of the
conversion during the year are set out in note 32.

On 31 May 2010, the open offer of 222,661,915 offer shares at
HK$0.50 on the basis of 7 offer shares for every 20 shares with
bonus issue on the basis of 2 bonus shares for every offer share
taken up became unconditional.

30. RESERVES

(a)

The Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and
movements therein for the current and prior years
are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 34 of the annual report.

& NE P

CEX

(b)

(d)

(a)

RZZEZNFELAZ+H  REFEZEESE LR
Eﬁﬁéu ,280,000,0000% 37 i& 11 B & 217 wﬁéf
BEBRRKH0.18H T - L& HN 2 FTEREL
28 (MBRE1TH S AT) £ A50,400,00075 7T © BL &
FHE2ABHRARTNBHPA-_ZZTAENA
TARZZEZEAENARBZAMH -

HE-_TZTAF+_B=1+—"RHILEFEF 7
BREEFAARERESR2E T B A
£ %8 133,800,000% ;L 2 Al X = 3% - LA R
669,000,000f% f% 15 °

BEARZZZNFET A+ ABBZREER
B-TTNF+ZA+EBE ARARRAR
SARSHREMBECI0E LY BT RMAEITR
MDA ASREE0S08E T A RN °

LES2 9 —TFERA+-RABBZEBRE
ES ZK Tz/imﬂxzk%ﬁi‘*ﬂsoooooooooﬁx
A% % + £ 1,000,000,000 7% 7T % A 2,000,000,000
B B 3 # H1 = 5,000,000,000 B T D A
10,000,000,0000% 15 °

HE-_ZT-TF+_F=+—"RHILEFEF 7
J]x?n%)%?%ﬁA@T@$$§E168,423,87Q/’5EZT
R ZE - ARREE170,220,7998 i 1 - F R Z
BRI R M 32 -
R-ZZE—ZFRA=+—8 EB_+EEH
EREREERD T AE —RESRMER
AR AL AR 1) 2 B 4E - LA AR AR 190,507 7T A B
202661915 EERND 2 AFEEKAE
&1 -

EME

FFEERAEFEREERBIEER
HBENEREME I GAEXRHE
FE27 -

hEEEHE

SEERAA
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30. RESERVES (Continued) 30. fRE#E)
(b) The Company (b) E2AF
Share-based  Conversion
Share payment  note equity Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
UREZN RAREER
R RE 1k ikt it ER &t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Pt & FTET TET TET TAET FET
At 1 January 2009 RZZEEZNFE—F—H 130,605 24,632 173,974 (413,942) (84,731)
Total comprehensive loss  AF E 2 HFEATE
for the year - - - (430,467) (430,467)
Issue of new shares by 1R 2Bl E %17
top-up placing il 29 22,400 - - - 22,400
Share issue expenses BOETRE (1,181) - - - (1,181)
Issue of shares by ARRER
conversion of convertible #3217 i 1
notes 32 77,320 - (53,145) - 24,175
Redemption of convertible & B 7] R Z 15
notes 32 - - (7,944) - (7,944)
Employee share option B EBMRER %
benefits 36 - 18,851 - - 18,851
Issue of convertible notes 77 AT A [ Z & 32 25,079 25,079

At 31 December 2009 and R=ZFh &
1 January 2010 +ZA=+t-8R
—2-8E_f-§ 229,144 137964 (844,400)  (433,818)

Total comprehensive loss  KAEE 2 AEIE AT

for the year - (5,565) (5,565)
Issue of convertible notes (T A[ R E & 32 - - 4,561
Issue of bonus shares BITHR 29 (222,662) - (222,662)
Share issue expenses B BITH Y (4,480) = (4,480)
Issue of shares by ARBRER

conversion of convertible & 2471 7

notes 32 128,352 (71,917) 56,435
Redemption of convertible & 5] ] $2 fR 2

notes 32 (20,920) (20,920)

At 31 December 2010 R-E-ZF
+=ZA=+-8 130,354 49,688 (849,974) (626,449)
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30. RESERVES (Continued)
(b) The Company (Continued)

Pursuant to the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and the Company’s Articles of Association,
the share premium of the Company is distributable
to the shareholders provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be
in a position to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. At 31 December 2010,
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Company did not have any reserve available for
distribution to shareholders (2009: nil).

The share-based payment reserve comprises the
fair value of share options granted which are yet to
be exercised, as further explained in the accounting
policy for share-based payment transactions in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
The amount will either be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options are
exercised, or be transferred to accumulate losses
should the related options expire or be forfeited.

31. OTHER LOAN

The amount represents an amount due to the former
shareholder of New Beida which is unsecured, interest-free
and is not repayable within the next 12 month.

30. f#E(#E)

(b)

ARTF(#E)

BRERSHERARERAARMEEER
AR WREEREKREZAR A2
BAERNEENAREHHRIHZE
I8 - BIARR B A A AR DR 5 E o
RZE-—ZF+-A=+—RH  ARQA
EEZR/ARARAEEMARBKRDIK
ZHEE(ZETNEF E) -

MM EERFRERBERRTERZ
BREZQATE FREAMBIRERM
AB6EBABRIN RS 2 GFTHE - &
BRERTE  AERESERARD
HER ERREENSERE  HER
BERERARGEE -

3. HMEX

ZR AR EA AL RATARCR 2 5KIE - RER
B RNERARKI2EAERE -

TEBKRHEEEARAF
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 #;3 FFE+ = H=+—HiF

32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES 32. AMREE
The Group and the Company REBRAERQTF
Acquisition of 100% interest in New Beida W B8 %7 db K Z100% 5 &=

RZZEZNF=ZAF=++H ' ARSino Tactic
Group Limited ([ & 77 |) Y 88 31 4k K 2 100%##
AR ABITEEANAREER(ZZETNSF
ﬂ@ﬁﬁ%—!@%)ﬁﬁ*ﬁ U RAE -

On 27 February 2008, pursuant to the acquisition of
100% equity interest in New Beida from Sino Tactic Group
Limited (the “Vendor”), the Company issued zero coupon
convertible notes (the “Convertible Notes 2008") as partial
settlement of the acquisition consideration.

The principal terms of the Convertible Notes 2008 are as —EEN\FUBRBREE S TEERRDOT
follows:

1T H —EENF-_A=_++tH

Date of issue 27 February 2008

Aggregate principal amount HK$720,000,000 NG aF ] 720,000,0007% 7T
Denomination in multiple of ~ HK$20,000,000 T %8 20,000,000 7T 2 % 21
Interest rate Nil BX i
Adjusted conversion price  HK$0.63 (HK$0.98) ERAEBRKE 0.6378 70(0.98/8 7T )
(previously reported) (S pfESR)
Maturity date 36 months from the EEA 17T H B ET361E A
date of issue
(a) Conversion period (a) R 5
Apart from the portion of Restricted Convertible %%EE%UT#HXTTF(‘%EHETY)ZiB
Notes (as described below), the holders of the DA —CEBNEABRBEEREAEAR
Convertible Notes 2008 shall have the rights —EENFAHBRERE 2T HEE
at any time and from time to time, following the BHEBER R TR 22 ERE D 2K
date of issue of the Convertible Notes 2008, to BEARGHEEHBSRNNG ZHMEBE -
convert the whole or any part of the outstanding AR 18 F 2317 R BC 28 2 B0 1%tk
principal amount into new ordinary shares in the HARNRRZERERETHHRAER
Company. The shares to be issued and allotted HEETEBRES TEHYZEERSEM
upon conversion shall rank pari passu in all respects i
among themselves and with all other ordinary
shares in issue by the Company on the date of such
allotment and issue.
(b)  Restricted convertible notes by ZRHFTRRIEE

Part of the Convertible Notes 2008 in principal
amount of HK$150 million (the “Restricted
Convertible Notes”) was under security to the
Company for the purpose of ensuring that the Profit
Guarantee (as described below) is fulfilled.

T NFABRBREERASEE
150,000,000 7T 2 & 5 ([ 5 BR & AT #2 f%
ZERDEHLTARRRE - (EARRA
BATFABRE(HRAR T 2\ -
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for the year ended 31 December 2010 # 2

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The Group and the Company (Continued)

Acquisition of 100% interest in New Beida (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Issuer early redemption option

The Company shall have the right to redeem any
portion of the Convertible Notes 2008 outstanding
at an amount equals to the principal amount of the
Convertible Notes 2008 in its sole and absolute
discretion at any time prior to the maturity date.

The Convertible Notes 2008 contain liability
component, equity component and early
redemption option derivatives. The issuer early
redemption option derivative is not closely related
to the host contract as the early redemption amount
is not close to the amortised cost of the liability on
the redemption date. The issuer early redemption
option derivative is measured at fair value with
change in fair value recognised in consolidated
income statement.

Profit guarantee

The Vendor undertakes to the Company that the
aggregate profits after tax shown in the audited
consolidated accounts of New Beida prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles for the financial year ended
31 December 2008 shall not be less than HK$150
million and will compensate the Company for any
shortfall between the guaranteed profits and the
actual aggregate profits after tax shown in the
audited consolidated accounts of New Beida
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles for the financial
year ended 31 December 2008.
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32.

FEF = H=+—HIF

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The Group and the Company (Continued)

Acquisition of 100% interest in New Beida (Continued)

(d)

Profit guarantee (Continued)

The Restricted Convertible Notes will be stake held
by the Company for the purpose of ensuring the
Profit Guarantee requirement is fulfilled according
to the acquisition agreement entered into by the
Company and the Vendor on 16 October 2007
while the Vendor undertakes not to exercise the
conversion rights attaching on the Restricted
Convertible Notes during the Profit Guarantee
Period and up to 31 March 2009. In the event that
the Restricted Convertible Notes under security
to the Company is not sufficient to cover the
compensation amount due to the shortfall from the
Profit Guarantee, the Vendor will be liable to pay the
Company in cash for any outstanding compensation
amount on a dollar for dollar basis after offsetting
the amount represented by the Restricted
Convertible Notes.

Based on the 2008 audited financial results of
New Beida, the profit guarantee requirement was
not fulfilled and the Group had set off the amount
of the shortfall as calculated in accordance with
the acquisition agreement dated 16 October 2007
against the principal amount of the Restricted
Convertible Notes, with the remaining balance of
approximately HK$565,000 against the other loan
as at 31 December 2008.

The directors of the Company have assessed
the fair value of the Convertible Notes 2008 with
embedded derivative. At 31 December 2010, the
liability component of the Convertible Notes is
approximately HK$75,102,000 which is stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method
and the fair value of the derivative component
of the Convertible Notes 2008 is approximately
HK$316,000 (2009: HK$316,000) as asset and
HK$315,000 (2009: nil) as liability. The effective
interest expenses of Convertible Notes 2008
amounting to approximately HK$14,267,000 have
been recognised in the consolidated income
statement for the year ended 31 December 2010.

The methods and assumptions applied for the
valuation of the Convertible Notes 2008 are as
follows:

32.

ARREE @)
REBERARFE)

W BB # 4t K 2 100%HE % (42)

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FFEFA=1—HILFE

32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued) 32. WERREEE)
The Group and the Company (Continued) AEBRAKDATE)
Acquisition of 100% interest in New Beida (Continued) Ui B8 34 K 2 100%4E 25 (42)
(d)  Profit guarantee (Continued) (d)y FIEREE)

Valuation of liability component

At the date of issue, the liability component was
recognised at fair value. The fair value of liability
component was calculated based on the present
value of the initial recognition contractually
determined stream of future cash flows discounted
at the required yield, which was determined with
reference to the average yield of notes with similar
credit rating and remaining time to maturity. In
subsequent periods, the liability component is

EE 0.2 1818

RETEH BEBD NEAFERE
B BEMD ZAFEDRBENTHER
FAIHREE 2 AR RERBRE M
B oEAERERIR  MAEREX
A2 REEFA R IERED H AR ARE
BREUZRENFHREEMETE - 1
EREA - AEFS ERERAN AR
BERAIR - BERD 2BERNES
12.29%

carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The effective interest rate of the liability
componentis 12.29%.

Valuation of the issuer early redemption the option
derivative

BITAIE PO EERITETAZIGE

Binomial model is used for valuation of issuer early
redemption option derivative. The inputs into the
model were as follows:

RBETARPEDEEEGERCER
ZIHEAER - ER W AZEAT

27 February 31 December 31 December 31 December

2008 2008 2009 2010
—EENF —EENF —EThE —E-EF
—A=++tH +—A=+—-H +=ZA=+-—-H +ZH=+—H
Stock Price HK$0.93 HK$0.50 HK$0.30 HK$0.31
&% & 0.93%F T 0.507%8 7T 0.3078 7T 0.3178 7T
Exercise price HK$0.20 HK$0.20 HK$0.98 HK$0.63
(adjusted due (adjusted due
to the placing of  to the open offer)
shares
and share
consolidation)
TEfE 0.20% 7T 0.20% 7T 0.98 T(HRE 0.63/8T
Rty RETRG (BRREE
EHMERAE) MmMERAE)
Volatility 57.77% 67.15% 50.67% 41.59%
0 57.77% 67.15% 50.67% 41.59%
Option life 36 months 26 months 14 months 2 months
R AR 361E A 261E A 1418 A 218 A
Risk free rate 2.009% 0.567% 0.27% 0.22%
i 3 B ) = 2.009% 0.567% 0.27% 0.22%
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued) 32. ABMREEE)

The Group and the Company (Continued) AEBRAKDATE)

Acquisition of 100% interest in IIN Medical (BVI) Uiz B8 B 51 B8 22 (BVI) 2 100%HE &

On 23 April 2009, pursuant to the acquisition of 61.27% R—_ZEZRAREFWNMA-+=H" MMultico
equity interest in [IN Medical (BVI) from Multico Holdings Holdings Limited ([ & 75 B ]) U 88 B &1 % %
Limited (“Vendor A”) and 38.73% from a group of non- (BV)z6127%iEsm km — B EERE= (=

controlling interests (“Vendor B”), the Company issued 7 WHE38.73% i + AN AR BT R E
convertible notes (the “Convertible Notes 2009”) as partial B(IZEZENFaBREE]) XM ER
settlement of the acquisition consideration. B -

The principal terms of the Convertible Notes 2009 are as

“EENFUBBREBRZIEGRROT ¢

follows:
Date of issue 23 April 2009 F17TH H —EEAFMNA-+=H
Aggregate principal  HK$32,770,000 PN 32,770,000 7T
amount
Denomination in HK$200,000 [ETR=E 200,0007% 7T 2 & &
multiple of
Interest rate Nil B i
Adjusted conversion  HK$1.01 (HK$1.57) 4 B I B1.018 t(1.578 T)
price (previously (S RIESR)
reported)
Maturity dates Principal amount approximately FHEI R 7K % 58 #720,150,00078 7T B #
HK$20,150,000 matured in 48 1THEARET481E A R EIH -
months from the date of issue H # N & §8 £912,620,000 7
and the remaining principal TEETHBF24EA R
amount of approximately EI| 51
HK$12,620,000 matured in 24
months from the date of issue
(a)  Conversion period (@) BRH

The holders of the Convertible Notes 2009 shall
have the rights to convert the whole or any part of
the outstanding principal amount into new ordinary
shares in the Company. The commencement
dates of conversion fall within the period from 31
December 2009 to 30 June 2012. The shares to be
issued and allotted upon conversion shall rank pari
passu in all respects among themselves and with all
other ordinary shares in issue by the Company on
the date of such allotment and issue.

—ETNFABRBREBRCFAEABES
%%BEJZEWE‘B Zﬂi%f%ﬁé%%ﬁ@ﬁ%?%
KR E 2 cHMREBH—ZTT N
F+ZA= 'l' EEﬁﬁA'K_%:—_i
NAZTHAL - REBREETFETR
fic 8% 2 A% 19 185 1tk Ke B 7K 2 B A 7% {8 Fid 3%
NETHEAMBEAEMERITERRES
FTEHZEEREZHA
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The Group and the Company (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Redemption option

The holders of Convertible Notes 2009 shall have
the rights to redeem up to 25% of the principal
amount of the Convertible Notes 2009 outstanding
at an amount equals to the principal amount of
the Convertible Notes 2009. The commencement
dates of redemption fall within the period from 31
December 2009 to 30 June 2012. The Company
is not required, at the maturity of the Convertible
Notes 2009, to redeem or pay any amount of the
Convertible Notes 2009.

The Convertible Notes 2009 contains liability
component, equity component and redemption
option derivatives. The holders redemption option
derivative is not closely related to the host contract
as the redemption amount is not close to the
amortised cost of the liability on the redemption
date.The holders redemption option derivative is
measured at fair value with change in fair value
recognised in consolidated income statement.

Profit guarantee

Certain members of Vendor B undertake to the
Group that the profits after tax shown in the audited
consolidated financial statements of Hunan I|IN
Medical, prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for the
year ended 31 December 2009 should not be less
than RMB8.5 million and will compensate the Group
for any shortfall, in proportion of their respective
shareholding in [IN Medical (BVI) to the extent of an
aggregate 17.31% thereof, between the guaranteed
profit and the actual profit.

Based on the audited financial results of Hunan IIN
Medical, the profit guarantee requirement is fulfilled.

FFE+—H=1F—HIFFE

32. WHBERBREEE)
AEBRAQT(E)

(b)

(c)

moREE
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ER_ZTNFAIBRREBEASE S
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32.

FEF = H=+—HIF

CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The Group and the Company (Continued)

(c)

Profit guarantee (Continued)

The directors of the Company have assessed
the fair value of the Convertible Notes 2009 with
embedded derivative. At 31 December 2010,
the liability component of the Convertible Notes
2009 is approximately HK$5,820,000 which
is stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method and the fair value of the derivative
component of the Convertible Notes 2009 is
approximately HK$1,083,000 (2009: nil) as asset
and HK$1,640,000 (2009:HK$1,640,000) as liability.
The effective interest expenses of Convertible Notes
2009 amounting to approximately HK$643,000
have been recognised in the consolidated income
statement for the year ended 31 December 2010.

The methods and assumptions applied for the
valuation of the Convertible Notes 2009 are as
follows:

Valuation of liability component

At the date of issue, the liability component was
recognised at fair value. The fair value of liability
component was calculated based on the present
value of the initial recognition contractually
determined stream of future cash flows discounted
at the required yield, which was determined with
reference to the average yield of notes with similar
credit rating and remaining time to maturity. In
subsequent periods, the liability component is
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The effective interest rate of the liability
componentis 11.22%.

32.

R EEE)

AEBEBRAKAT(E)

() FHEREE)
ARRBEZDFEBERARNTETA
Z_EENEABEBREENAFE - R
TE-TF+-F=+—H —TZTAR

Fr R EE 2 B EH # /55,820,000
BT Ty E R ERR B R A AT
R M-ZESZNFARREBEZTET
B i Hm A FEXEEE1083000#
T(ZZEZENF - T) K 8 E1,640,000
BIL(ZZEZAF 1,640,00087T) ° =
ﬁinﬁﬂﬁﬂxﬂfz,ﬂ%a‘u B S 49
643,000 7T BREZE i?¢+—
B=+— Eutirzﬁu?éuéz 5 7% N T

=7
ao ©

RIZEZNFIARERHERERZ
TERBERBET

BlEf7Z15E

ENE‘*TTEE@ BEMD RAFER
R BESD Z R FEIDRE ZH#R
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11.22%

CHINA E-LEARNING GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2010



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&n 8 Bl ¥ ¥ & M 5

for the year ended 31 December 2010 &% FFEf—H=+—HIFEF

32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued) 32. WBRERE#E)
The Group and the Company (Continued) AEBRAKDATE)
(c)  Profit guarantee (Continued) (c) RBERIBE)
Valuation of the holder redemption option derivative HEANBELEEENTET A IGE
Binomial model is used for valuation of the holder REEABEHEEETETAMGER
redemption option derivative. The inputs into the EEA_EAER o ER Y A28
model were as follows: Nk
23 April 31 December 31 December
2009 2009 2010
—EZThE —EEhE —E-=ZF

mA=+=H +=A=t+-8 +=A=+-~H

Stock price HK$0.30 HK$0.30 HK$0.31
& & 0.3078 7T 0.30/% 7T 0.317%8 7T
Exercise price HK$0.32 HK$1.57 HK$1.01
(adjusted after (adjusted after
the placing of the open offer)
shares
and share
consolidation)
T 0.32% 7T 16578 T (FAEE 1.0187T
Rt RETRG (BRREE
EHFmAR) i 42 )
Option life 48 months 40 months 28 months
EEEER 4818 A 4018 A 2818 A
Risk free rate 0.70%-1.55% 0.32%-1.25% 0.74%
I 3 B ) =R 0.70%-1.55% 0.32%-1.25% 0.74%
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued) 32. WBEBREEE)
The Group and the Company (Continued) AEBRAKDATE)
The movement of the convertible notes for the year THREEERAKEEZE 2 EEBHFHI WO T -
is set out below:
Financial Financial
Liability Equity derivative- derivative-
component component asset liability Total
fTEsm fTEem
8EHs REHD EE af& Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET FHT FTHET TET
Carrying amount RZEEAF

at 1 January 2009 - H EI ZEHEE 341,070 173,974 (64,455) - 450,589
Conversion of Convertible  H# —ZZ N\ F [

Notes 2008 (Note a) m%ﬁ( ﬁ?a) (110,765) (53,145) 19,690 - (144,220)
Issue of Convertible BT ZETNFRK

Notes 2009 (Note b) mﬁ%(lzﬁ #b) 5,830 25,079 - 307 31,216
Redemption of Convertible B @ — T )\ F a2 %

Notes 2008 (Note c) ﬂﬁ(ﬁﬁzc) (16,981) (7,944) 2,943 - (21,982)
Effective interest expenses BB A B X 35,220 - - - 35,220
Change in fair value NEEEE - - 41,506 1,333 42,839

—ETNF
Carrying amount +_ AR=+—H

at 31 December 2009 ZERHEE 254,374 137,964 (316) 1,640 393,662
Issue of Convertible BIIZTZNFABRK

Notes 2009 (Note d) F&(M5a) 2,219 4,561 - - 6,780
Conversion of Convertible ~ H#-ZZ \Ea[# kK

Notes 2008 (Note e) ﬂf(l‘ﬁ ite) (141,181) (62,758) - 175 (203,764)
Conversion of Convertible ¥ -~ T AEA#HRK

Notes 2009 (Note ) = JF(IKﬁ ) - (9,159) - - (9,159)
Redemption of Convertible BB — 2T N\F [

Notes 2008 (Note g) ZE (i) (46,052) (19,860) - 56 (65,856)
Redemption of Convertible ~ BE[E =2 Z A F a2k

Notes 2009 (Note h) Z&(KI5Eh) (3,349) (1,060) (818) - (5,227)
Effective interest expenses B B Al 8 5 2 14,911 - - - 14,911
Change in fair value NEEEE - - (265) 84 (181)
Carrying amount RZE-FF

at 31 December 2010 +-A=1+—H

ZIRHE(E 80,922 49,688 (1,399) 1,955 131,166
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES(Continued) AR EE &)
The Group and the Company (Continued) AEBRADQT (&
Notes: ffsE -
(a) Set out below are details of conversion of the (a) R-ZZBTZNE  —TEN\FaBREE
Convertible Notes 2008 during the year 2009: ZEBRFBHIOT
Principal
amount of the Number of
convertible ordinary
Date of conversion notes shares issued
BB RE 28T
HEH ZEREHE ZER#E
(adjusted
due to share
HK$ consolidation)
(E#ETRMD
BT SO AE)
10 June 2009 —TTAFARATH 49,000,000 49,000,000
18 June 2009 —ZEZAFRATNE 44,000,000 44,000,000
29 June 2009 —TEAFARAZ+ANA 13,600,000 13,600,000
10 September 2009 —TTAFNA+HE 13,600,000 13,600,000
16 October 2009 —ZTTAF+A+B 13,600,000 13,600,000
(b) The Company issued convertible notes on 23 April (b) RZZEZNFMNAZ+=H KAEE
2009 as partial consideration for the acquisition of AR - AU B E 2 (BVI)
100% equity interest in 1IN Medical (BVI) and its T2 EL BB A ) 2 100% 25 2 SR 1E -
subsidiaries.
(c) On 5 October 2009, Convertible Notes 2008 in the (c) RZZEZALF+ A ﬁ H X&%8

principal amount of HK$20,000,000 were redeemed.

20,000, ooofémzf T N\FAIBRRKRE
FE%%@°
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued)

The Group and the Company (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(d)

On 15 July 2010, pursuant to the renewed Joint
Construction Agreement on the terms and conditions
similar to the existing Joint Construction Agreement,
except that Beijing University will be entitled to share
49% of the profits of the Distance Education College
as compared to the current level of 40%, the Company
issued Convertible Notes A5 and Convertible Notes
B3 collectively (Convertible Notes 2010) in the
aggregate principal amount of HK$6,780,000 as the
final payment for the acquisition of the entire issued
share capital of IIN Medical (BVI).

The principal terms of the Convertible Notes 2010 are
as follows:

Date of issue
Aggregate principal

15 July 2010
HK$6,780,000

amount

Denomination in multiple HK$200,000
of

Interest rate Nil

HK$1.01

Principal amount
approximately
HK$4,154,106 matured
in 48 months from the
date of issue and the
remaining principal
amount of approximately
HK$2,625,894 matured
in 24 months from the
date of issue

Conversion price
Maturity dates

Set out below are details of conversion of the
Convertible Notes 2008 during the year 2010:

Date of conversion

32. WHBERBREEE)
AEBRAQT(E)

ot aE

(d)

(e)

HiaHH
9 March 2010 —E-TF=ZAANAB
26 April 2010 —ZTFMNA=+H

C(#)

RZZE—ZTFLA+HAB  REKE
PURIRE HBHE 2 GR R AGEH(BRE
RARZBEAEDIEREHE B 249%
@ A 25N - B AT Z KT A40%) EE
ZHEERE AQRETASLER
6,780,000 7T 2 A] #2 & 3 4RAS K AT #2
REEBS(HiTEA — TS HRRE
%) ERYWEREMEE(BY)EIHE
TRAMTRENMNK -

—ZEFARREBEZ EFZHRRD
T
%17 A & T+t A+HH
ENe A<k 6,780,000/% 7T
gl 200,000/ 7T 2 15
BX i3
IR E 1.01% 7T
R R & FE 494,154,106
BT B 1T HMH
#2548 8 A W E
HHBRASHELD
2,625,894 7 T A
TEERE 248 A
A 51| B8
RZE-—TF  —ZTZENFAUBRREE
ZEBRFBHIOT
Principal amount Number of
of the ordinary shares
convertible notes issued
CIE: =X &6y
ZEEH EBERME
HK$
BT
150,000,000 153,061,224
8,000,000 8,163,265
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32. CONVERTIBLE NOTES (Continued) 32. ABMREEE)
AEBRARQFHE)

ML : (A7)

The Group and the Company (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

R-ZB-2F  —ZENFIARRER
ZHEBEBHINMAT

(f) Set out below are details of conversion of the (f)
Convertible Notes 2009 during the year 2010:

Principal amount Number of
of the ordinary shares
Date of conversion convertible notes issued
CE:VES 28T
HR A ZEREHE LERHE
HK$
BT
18 January 2010 —E-ZTF—-A+/\H 3,750,000 2,388,535
16 July 2010 —T—TFLA+H 4,262,060 4,219,850
1 November 2010 E—ZF+—H—H 2,233,419 2,211,292
6 December 2010 E—TF+=-AXH 178,400 176,633
(9) Set out below are details of redemption of the (@ 56:1??§¢ P =EEN\EARBRRE
Convertible Notes 2008 during the year 2010: ZBEFHRIMT -
Principal amount
of the
Date of redemption convertible notes
REEE
e A i
HK$
BT
10 June 2010 —ET—-TFXA+H 50,000,000
(h) Set out below are details of redemption of the (h) REZF—RE  —FRNETRERE
Convertible Notes 2009 during the year 2010: ZBEFERIIMT
Principal amount
of the
Date of redemption convertible notes
ABRRRE
e A S ZAEHE
HK$
BT
18 January 2010 —ZET—-ZF—A+N\H 1,250,000
16 July 2010 —T-TF+LA+H 331,344
31 October 2010 —E2-ZTF+A=+—H 1,244,934
31 October 2010 —ET-ZFE+A=1+—AR 679,627

REBEE-_ZTTAF+-_A=+—81
FEEF AEEZUTBRRERTIHE
3 & & & E E AT 1TMalcolm & Associate
Appraisal Limited# 1T {48 © MR E =
—T—ZF+-_A=+—BLFE 8l
HPEFHEBERARETEE -

The Group’s convertible notes were valued by
Malcolm & Associate Appraisal Limited, an
independent qualified valuer, for the year ended 31
December 2009 and by Grant Sherman Appraisal
Limited for the year ended 31 December 2010.
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33. ACAQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 33. WEXTEHWE QT
On 23 April 2009, the Group completed the acquisition of RZZEZNFMNAZ+=H AEE TR KE
100% interest in 1IN Medical (BVI), of which 61.27% from B 51l B8 BE(BV1),Z2 100% % A8 # 25 (E H1 61.27 %7
Vendor A and 38.73% from Vendor B. B HUREE - M38.73%ME A L) -
Details of the net assets acquired in respect of the BE-ZTAFE+_A=1+—HLEE gl
acquisition of 1IN Medical (BVI) and its subsidiaries during BRABEBVIVNEWNBRARIMBAZEEF

the year ended 31 December 2009 are summarised below: BEEEMET -

Fair value of

assets and
liabilities
acquired
BALE
kEEZ
AEE
HK$'000
FAT
NET ASSETS ACQUIRED BAZEEERE
Property, plant and equipment M WEREE 3,360
Other intangible assets Hih\mpEE 529
Inventories FE 81
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H i fE YR 3R 12,622
Amount due from minority shareholder of a subsidiary W —FEB AR Z LERERKEREZ A 615
Bank balances and cash RITEHB LIRS 10,903
Trade and other payables B R HAMEMER (7,944)
Deposit in advance B E (140)
Dividend payable P& AR B (3,834)
Net assets acquired BACEEAE 16,192
Non-controlling interests e (3,768)
Goodwill G 31,222
Adjusted consideration KR EBNRE 43,646
Total consideration satisfied by: LTS SBEZ N2 B8RE
— Cash —He 5,650
— Other payable — Contingent convertible — HAM B8 — AR R E
notes (note a) (Bt 5Ea) 6,780
— Convertible notes, at fair value (note b) — A MR ERE (R A FE) (Fib) 31,216
43,646
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WHEEEZREMRAFE
Cash paid EfRe (5,650)
Bank balances and cash acquired FRERTESR LR ® 10,903
5,253
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ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of IIN Medical (BVI)
during the year ended 31 December 2009 was attributable
to the anticipated future operating synergies from the
combination of the existing distribution networks of the
Group.

The subsidiaries acquired contributed approximately
HK$22,305,000 to the Group’s revenue and profit of
approximately HK$3,405,000 to the Group’s results for the
period between the date of acquisition and the end of the
reporting period.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2009,
total contribution to the Group’s revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2009 would have been approximately
HK$34,307,000, and profit for the year ended 31
December 2009 would have been HK$10,670,000. The
proforma information is for illustrative purposes only and
is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of
operations of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2009 that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2009, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.

Note:

(a) In accordance with the acquisition agreements entered into
with Vendor A and Vendor B, upon the renewal of the Joint
Construction Agreement with profit sharing percentage no less
than 51% and other terms and conditions under the renewed
agreement no less favourable than those under the existing
agreement, the contingent consideration of HK$6,780,000 will
be satisfied by issue of additional Convertible Notes 2009 in the
principal amount of HK$6,780,000.

(b) The consideration of approximately HK$32,770,000 was
satisfied by issue of the convertible notes with a conversion
price of HK$0.32 per conversion share to the Vendor A and
Vendor B. Further details of the convertible notes payable are
set out in note 32 to the financial statements.
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WREEHMEQR#)

BHE_ZZANF+_A=+—AHLFE Ak
BEMEEBV)NMEEZEAEFERERAE A
EEREDHEBEEMELTBTRRELERHR
A e

BRERANEE 2SRRI - TREZW
B~ R AN & B s 1E  £922,305,000%8 7T B
Bt RBAREE 2 A T 493,405,000 IT i
FEE -

WHREBEBEER _ZTAhF—A—HZEK &
SEBEE_ZTTENF+_A=+—HLEFEZ
W5 B B4R FE E %) 534,307,000 T ME =
TETAF+ A=+ BRILEFEZRFEY
£10,670,0008 T - BEEE R EHFTAAE -
BEIWKEEBEER_STAF—A—A%K
ZERTAEBEBEE_TETNAE+_A=1+—
BIEFEZWREREEEB ZIEZE  IRIEXRK
EIEZEA -

CEX

(a) *E%FéﬁiﬁﬁEﬁ&aEZJ.Lzuﬁz@%m% i
HEEEEE(FES DEHARLRE1% - M
%«’EZET;%a%zEIWI%?X&“%#T%E@EEJ@%%
ARG ) 18 - 3R B6,780,0007% 7T 1%
FEHNBE 1T AN £ 566,780,000 T 2 — TE AEA
BREBEZARAINM -

(b) K18 #132,770,000% 7t 3% iR 1Z 12 (E50.328 7T -
MEFRRESBETARRER 2 F XA -
ERATIRREER FHENMEREM 32
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34. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 34, REBEPRE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had REBRAR  AEERRAEZWEREMEE
commitments for future minimum lease payments under AR RS TR E 2 AR R E HE
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of office FIERE R AR ¢

premises and other asset, which fall due as follows:

The Group
& &

2010 2009
—z—zr [EEEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAET
Within one year —F R 1,729 3,993
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_ZZRF(RIEEEMSF) 1,496 5,156
Over five years AFU L - 1,000
10,149
Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed for terms of 1 to MO —ZERF2FREILRERH(ZEE
5 years (2009: 1 to 12 years) NE: —ZF+F) -
35. OTHER COMMITMENTS 35. Hfh&AIE
The Group
AEE
2010 2009
A el ==~

HK$’000 HK$'000
TR THET

Expenditure contracted for but not provided the gt FFIZEE T HERARG S

consolidated financial statement in respect of: SR ARBE X

- Consultancy service - B AR 1,000

— Online system development - TR R A -

- Exclusive agency - BRMAE -
1,000
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SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
on 24 November 2001, pursuant to which, the Board might
during the period commencing on the adoption date of
the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and ending on the
day immediately prior to the day when bulk printing of
the prospectus for listing of shares of the Company took
place grant options to any employee of the Group or any
other persons who, in the sole discretion of the Board,
have contributed or would contributed to the Group to
subscribe for shares of the Company at HK$0.12 per
share, representing a discount of approximately 64% of
the placing price when the shares of the Company were
first listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 5 December
2001. The exercise price was subsequently adjusted to
HK$0.9796 per share after adjustment for the open offer
of the Company effected during the year and the share
consolidation effected in the year 2006.

On 27 November 2001, options to subscribe for a total
of 44,000,000 shares of the Company were granted to a
director and an employee at a total consideration of HK$2.
The options granted may be exercised at any time during
the period from 5 December 2001 to 4 December 2011.
No options were granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme after the listing of the shares of the Company. The
option for subscribing 40,000,000 shares of the Company
was lapsed and an option to subscribe for 490,000 shares
(after adjustment for the open offer of the Company effected
during the year and the share consolidation effected in the
year 2006) was outstanding as at 31 December 2010. No
options granted under Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme were
exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the year.
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36.

FEF = H=+—HIF

SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION
(Continued)

Share Option Scheme

The Company adopted a share option scheme (“Share
Option Scheme”) on 24 November 2001 for the purpose
of providing incentives or rewards to selected persons for
their contribution to the Group. The Share Option Scheme
shall be valid and effective for 10 years with expiry date of
5 December 2011. Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme,
the Board may grant options to any employee of the Group
or any other persons who, in the sole discretion of the
Board, have contributed or will contribute to the Group to
subscribe for shares of the Company at a price determined
by the Board and shall be no less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of offer
of the option which must be a business day, (ii) the average
closing price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of offer of the options;
and (iii) the nominal value of a share on the date of offer of
the options.

The total number of securities which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other schemes must not in aggregate
exceed 47,774,389 shares (equivalent to 238,871,947
shares before adjustment for the share consolidation of
the Company effective 17 December 2009). The maximum
entitlement of each participant under the Share Option
Scheme in any 12-month period is 1 per cent of the shares
inissue.

The grantees may accept the offer of options by paying
HK$1 as the consideration of the grant to the Company
within 28 days from the date of offer. Any offer which is not
accepted within such period will be deemed to have been
irrevocably declined. The options may be exercised at any
time during a period of 10 years from the date of grant of
the options and there is no lock-up period for exercise of the
options.

36.
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36. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION 36. URXZNEEHM=)
(Continued)
Share Option Scheme (Continued) BEIRREETEI ()
The movements in the share options of the Company during FR - ARARNBIBEREZZFHEHNT X -
the year are shown in the following table:
Number of
Exercise share options
period and Exercise At adjusted Granted At Movement At
Name of Date of vesting price per 1January  due to share during 31 December during 31 December
participant grant period share 2009 consolidation* the year 2009 the year 2010
REFTRH
TEHR RZBENF AHMEAER RZZBhE R=B-%F
SRERE RABH 5RE BROEE -B-B zBRE%E FRRE t=AZt+-8 FRE® t-AZt-8
HK$
(B1)
Directors
s
Chen Hong 28/08/2008  28/08/2008- 2,150 9,500,000 (7,600,000) - 1,900,000 - 1,900,000
RE 27/08/2018
09/07/2009  09/07/2009- 1,095 - - 1,900,000 1,900,000 - 1,900,000
08/07/2019
Liang Juan* 28/08/2008  28/08/2008- 2,150 2,000,000 (1,600,000) - 400,000 - 400,000
28 27/08/2018
09/07/2009  09/07/2009- 1,095 - - 2,400,000 2,400,000 - 2,400,000
08/07/2019
Wang Hui** 28/08/2008  28/08/2008- 2,150 9,000,000 (7,200,000) - 1,800,000 - 1,800,000
I 27/08/2018
09/07/2009  09/07/2009- 1,095 - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 - 2,000,000
08/07/2019
Wei Jianya 28/08/2008  28/08/2008- 2,150 4,000,000 (3,200,000) - 800,000 - 800,000
RS 27/08/2018
09/07/2009  09/07/2009- 1,095 - - 600,000 600,000 - 600,000
08/07/2019
Li Xiangjun** 28/08/2008  28/08/2008- 2,150 7,000,000 (5,600,000) - 1,400,000 - 1,400,000
ZHE 27/08/2018
09/07/2009  09/07/2009- 1,095 - - 2,600,000 2,600,000 - 2,600,000
08/07/2019
Subtotal 31,500,000  (25,200,000) 9,500,000 15,800,000 - 15,800,000
gt
Others
Hit
m aggregate 28/08/2008  28/08/2008- 2,150 65,500,000  (52,400,000) - 13,100,000 - 13,100,000
af 27/08/2018
09/07/2009  09/07/2009- 1,095 - - 18,500,000 18,500,000 - 18,500,000
08/07/2019
Totalé8 5t 97,000,000  (77,600,000) 28,000,000 47,400,000 - 47,400,000
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment * i T AR S B ATAL AR S AR B R AR AN HH 38 E A
in case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in BUES  ABRENTEEETAAE - BR
the Company’s share capital. Following the share consolidation MEHR_ZTTNF+_A+EBBERE -
effective on 17 December 2009, the total number of share ?é?% BEBHAT 2 MARITEBRE Q& iE
options outstanding and the exercise price of the share options RITEBEREZITFEERRGO UM ED ABEE
outstanding and the closing price of shares immediately before HE R o AR I B B 2 AR5 W (B /&% 1.065
the date of grant had been adjusted accordingly. The closing BT (RO EHEBERAE) -
price of the shares at the date of grant of the share options was
HK$1.065 (adjusted after the share consolidation).
* Resigned during respective years. o RIEBEREEE -
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36. SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION 36.
(Continued)

DR EEFHM @)

Share Option Scheme (Continued) BRI ()

No share option was granted or exercised during the year FAWEBRER D HITE -
2010.

BE_ZTZhAF+_A=+—HILHF
- BREZERRESE A140,000,000
o REBEBRESSREZEBREZR
F{E A18,851,0005 7T * & 17 0.1346 78
TC(FLETTIRD A HELFAER) - Mk

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2009, the (a)
number of share options granted was 140,000,000.
The fair value of options granted under the Share
Option Scheme, amounted to HK$18,851,000,
HK$0.1346 each (before adjustment for share
consolidation). The fair values of the outstanding TEEREZAFEDFERBE IR —
options were derived from Black-Scholes option SFRATHRETEERIRUATEELBRR
pricing model by applying the following bases and 5
assumptions:

Expected Expected life Risk-free Expected
Date of grant (dd-mm-yy) volatility (in years) interest rate  dividend yield
REBH(E A F) EHKE FEHFHE) ERRA = EHREE
09.07.2009 86.70% 10 1.78% Nil / &
28.08.2008 79.60% 10 2.76% Nil / %

AEBR-_ZEZNFERARRBHEZE
% 4 1 52 A S2 48 R 49 18,851,000/8 7T °

The Group recognised the total expenses of
approximately HK$18,851,000 during 2009 in
relation to share options granted by the Company.

AHRE LT RS RS
ARAR-FEAFLANA
—EEN\F: ZEBN\ENA

(i) the expected volatilities were generated (i)
from Bloomberg based on the Company’s
1,250-day historical share prices before 9

(iii)

July 2009 (year 2008: 999-day historical
share prices before 28 August 2008);

the applicable risk-free rates were the
yields of five years Hong Kong Monetary
Authority exchange fund notes, matching
the assumed life of the options, quoted on 9
July 2009 (year 2008: 28 August 2008); and

the expected dividend yields were
estimated based on the historical dividend,
which was zero.

The values of the options are subject to the
limitations of the Black-Scholes option pricing
model and a number of assumptions which are
subjective and difficult to ascertain. Changes in the
subjective input assumptions could materially affect
the fair value estimate.

—+ N\ BA1Z999H £ i (&) Al
Z1250HELREET ;

() EREARHEAESLMER
RIERSBRR-TFAFL
ARNB(ZZZENE : —FFN
FNA=FNR) A2 BENR
3% - SN2 BRRAIE
AR

(i) FEHREEDERELEREXR(R

2 -

BREZEEAGTM AR — @
HREERARGZRHARZHTIE

BEEE 2 BRME - EERAZE
BB A2HBRREEZ  AMESHZAF

BXREXHNEATE -
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SHARE-BASED EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION
(Continued)

Share Option Scheme (Continued)

(c) No share option was exercised during the year 2010
and 2009.

(d) The outstanding share options as at 31 December
2010 had a remaining contractual life of 8.09 years
(81 December 2009: 9.95 years).

(e) If options are forfeited before expiration or lapsed,
the related share-based payment reserve will be
transferred directly to retained profits.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade
and other receivables, amount due from non-controlling
interests, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
payables, amounts due to directors, financial derivatives,
convertible notes and other loan. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors
reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below. The Group’s
accounting policies in relation to derivatives are set out in
note 5 to the financial statements.
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FEF = H=+—HIF

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
that counterparties fail to perform their obligations at 31
December 2010 in relation to each class of recognised
financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.
The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
and other receivables. In order to minimise credit risk,
management has certain monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade receivables regularly at each
reporting date to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are adequately made for irrecoverable amounts. The credit
risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are commercial banks with high credit-ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies. The Group has
no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure
spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from the
Group’s bank deposits. All the borrowings and deposits are
on a floating rate basis.

The Group does not use financial derivatives to hedge
against the interest rate risk. However, the interest rate
profile of the Group’s net deposits (being bank deposits
less interest-bearing financial liabilities) is closely
monitored by management.

At 31 December 2010, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points (2009: 50 basis
points) in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, would increase/decrease the Group’s loss before
tax and accumulated losses by approximately HK$146,130
(2009: HK$119,230).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined
assuming that the change in interest rates had occurred at
the reporting date and had been applied to the exposure
to interest rate risk for the non-derivative financial liabilities
in existence at that date. The 50 basis points increase/
decrease represents management’'s assessment of a
reasonably possible change in interest rates over the
period until the next annual reporting date. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2009.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures, primarily
with respect to Renminbi (“RMB”), for the years 2010
and 2009. Such exposures arise from online professional
training and multimedia education products in currencies
other than the Group’s functional currency (i.e. Hong Kong
dollar). All of the Group’s sales are denominated in RMB for
the years 2010 and 2009.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign
exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

The Group conducts its business transactions principally in
RMB. The exchange rate risk of the Group is not significant.

Liquidity risk

For the management of the Group’s liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash and cash
equivalents considered adequate by management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuation in cash flows. Management reviews and
monitors its working capital requirements regularly.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE 37 HMERBEERERBES)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) RBESRARE)

The following table details the contractual maturities at TERFAVWAEFENRSHRPRN TR EEE Z’j@J
the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial HER 2 BERECTOERTERRESRE
liabilities, which are based on contractual undiscounted (BIEETOR R E 27 B F08) A& E )
cash flows (including interest payments computed using AXNHREBEz=EAHFE -

contractual rates) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay:

More than More than

On demand one year two years Total
or within  but less than but less than  undiscounted
one year two years five years cash flow
EZX k- MERL AFRRE
H—FR BEREUR BERFUR mEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FTET FTET T

At 31 December 2010 RZT—FF

+-A=1+-H
Financial liabilities SREE
Trade and other payables BHREMEMRR ) 9,006
Amounts due to directors EANEEFE 116
Other loan HiER ; 49,435
Convertible notes R EE : 81,910
140,467
More than More than

On demand one year two years Total
or within but less than but less than undiscounted
one year two years five years cash flow
BEX —EpE MERL AFTEBEL
B-FR BRE AR BRENRK RELE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL AT AL TAEL

At 31 December 2009 RZZETNEF

+-A=1+—-H
Financial liabilities tRAE

Trade and other payables B 5 REAEMER 25,045 - - 25,045
Amounts due to directors ENEEHE 116 - - 116
Other loan HtEH - 49,435 - 49,435
Convertible notes BB ES - 287,355 5,037 292,392
25,161 336,790 25,161 366,988
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
&n 8 Bl ¥ ¥ & M 5

for the year ended 31 December 2010 # 2

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the
Company will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through optimisation
of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to the owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves. The directors of the Company review the capital
structure on a regular basis. As a part of this review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of capital and
the associated risks and take appropriate actions to adjust
the Company’s capital structure. The overall strategy of
the Company remained unchanged during each of the two
years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 28 February 2011, the Company entered into three
respective settlement agreements.

First settlement agreement

The Company entered into a first settlement agreement
(the “First Settlement Agreement”) with a group of
existing holders (the “CN Group Holders”) of some of the
Convertible Notes 2008.

According to the First Settlement Agreement, the Company
would have a 30 days-period (commencing from the
expiry of the maturity date of the Convertible Notes 2008)
to raise funds to redeem the Convertible Notes 2008 from
the CN Group Holders in cash, and the Company could,
before 30 March 2011, at its absolute discretion, by a 3
days’ advance written notice to the CN Group Holders
elects to enter into a subscription agreement with the CN
Group Holders pursuant to which the Company will agree
to issue convertible notes, in the aggregate principal
amount of HK$40,000,000 to the CN Group Holders and/
or their nominee(s), such that the subscription moneys
due from them in connection with the subscription of such
convertible notes would be used to set-off against the
redemption moneys.
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38.

TEFEF = F=1+—HIFE

BEEABEERE RBEE)

EXEBER
AEBEBREEAR  BRARAEHEEL
% O RAETERRETEaAGRESESRTA

NEREEFDRS @R -

AEEYEARBBERS RN SSEEA N
KAk 2 R A R A 2 (BB E B TR A R
FB) - AR A EE BB A RS - B
BESHARAEMAR - 3 & RIE S 1563
BARRZARRH -BE_F—TFR_F
TNFT-AS+—AIMEFEEE AR
AREERRETE -

BEMEREH

RARARZE——F_AZ+N\BHAFIL=
7 M AR 15 5%

F-0NEH=R

ARRERN —FTZNFABBREZHNER
BEREATAREEEROFTEADILE —
g ((E— O Mm@Eip=El) -

BIEE— (D FEWZE - AARFAIE30E R
(TN F AL EEE A 8RR
HIRNEEEE O UR-_E——F=A=+H
ZAINREmABRREESHIBEEAER_Z
SNFABRBEERE  BIRRAATUARZEE
——F=A=F+HZAE  (TEEZERNSE -
BBAARRZEEDBOFEEARNSAMNEL
EmBEM  REBEHATBREERINDEE ATL
REWZ BUHARABRERATRKREE
HPBEAR RERZABTAEBLEL
40,000,000 L2 AJ R B - MEEHRE
ZEMNRBRZEMENNREFE  BEREK
HEE R FRIE -

TEBKRHEEEARAF
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38.

39.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

Second settlement agreement

The Company entered into a second settlement agreement
(the “Second Settlement Agreement”) with an individual
(the “CN Holder”) who holds some of the Convertible Notes
2008. The principal amount relates to the Convertible Notes
2008 held by the CN Holder is HK$36,200,000.

According to the Second Settlement Agreement, the
Company would have a 30 days-period expiring on 30
March 2011 to redeem the Convertible Notes 2008 from the
CN Holder in cash.

Third settlement agreement

The Company entered into a third settlement agreement
(“Third Settlement Agreement”) with a corporate holder
(the “PN Holder”), which holds a promissory note (2010
P Note") issued by the Company on 27 May 2010 mainly
in relation of the Group’s other loan. The principal amount
of the 2010 P Note is in the amount of approximately
HK$50,000,000.

According to the Third Settlement Agreement, the
Company and the PN Holder will enter into a subscription
agreement pursuant to which the Company will agree
to issue a convertible note, in the principal amount of
approximately HK$50,000,000 to the PN Holder and/or its
nominee(s), such that the subscription moneys due from it
in connection with the subscription of such convertible note
would be used to set-off against the moneys.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to
conform to the current year’s presentation.
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BEWREH )

E NS

ARAREFAIFN _ZTENFALRRRER L —
HEABBEAN(ATBRBREERSEADILE =
A@EHR((E_DMNEBE]) - TRRER
REARBZ-_TTN\FUREREENBEBA
© & %8 /36,200,000 7T ©

BEE-MN@EHE  AQRBIEHEZ -
——FZA=+HILZ30HHERNNAIRE @A
BREFEZEEABR ST N\FAHEKREZE -

FE=0NEH=E

RAREFAEARAR_ZE-—ZFRA-TL
BXEfAKBEZEMERBETZAZ(=
E-ZTEARARDZ-BEERFRBEATNLRER
FAEADTLE=M@EHZE =0
EH#El)  —E-EERENETETEBROA
50,000,000/ 7T °

BEBEE=DNRHZE A2FHEAZRFFA
B RERE  BUEARABRAERAAR
BEAR/ SKHERBABITASBEN B
50,000,000 T 2 Al MR EiR - MR SR E
ZENBRBREEMENNRETE  EAREK
SHFERAFRIE o

t BB S
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